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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive:

SNEAH Kar Loon (Chairman)*
Dato LIM Kim Wah*

CHENG Chee Tock Theodore?
WU Chuang John”

CAO Dongxin”®

HO Chi Chung Joseph”

YU Ping"

ZHANG Yiwei"

TANG Ming"

HU Xichang”

Non-executive:

WOELM Samuel”
IO Rudy Cheok Kei*
NG Kwok Lun*

Independent Non-executive:

LAl Hock Meng*

LAW Chiu William*

Dato MYHRE Carl Gunnar*
BALAKRISHNAN Narayanan®
YONG Peng Tak*

WANG Shanchuan”®

NG Pui Lung®

FUNG Pui Cheung Eugene*

#  appointed on 6 April 2011

@ duty suspended with effect from 8 April 2011

re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011

* did not offer himself for re-election as Director on 6 April 2011
re-designated from executive Director to non-executive Director with
effect from 15 July 2011
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

LAl Hock Meng* (Chairman)
LAW Chiu William*
BALAKRISHNAN Narayanan?
WANG Shanchuan”

NG Pui Lung”

FUNG Pui Cheung Eugene*

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

IO Rudy Cheok Kei* (Chairman)
Dato MYHRE Carl Gunnar*
YONG Peng Tak*

CHENG Chee Tock Theodore?
WANG Shanchuan”

FUNG Pui Cheung Eugene*

COMPANY SECRETARY

SIK Siu Kwan

AUDITOR
ANDA CPA Limited

#  appointed as committee member on 8 April 2011

@ duty suspended with effect from 8 April 2011

re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011

* did not offer himself for re-election as Director on 6 April 2011
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to report to you as the Chairman of the new board of
directors (the “New Board”) that has taken over the running of C Y
Foundation Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries, (the
“Group”) from April 2011.

The New Board is facing many challenges in running the Company but
| think we should be able to overcome most of them in the foreseeable
future. We have been taking aggressive measures and have devoted great
effort to resolve and handle the numerous unresolved issues left behind
by the former board and management. The New Board has also sought
legal advice and initiated appropriate legal actions in both Hong Kong and
China to safeguard the interests of the Group.

Dealing in the shares of the Company has been suspended since
August 2010. Our main aim now is to resume the trading of shares of
the Company at The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) again as soon as possible.

The Stock Exchange requires that the Company should meet a strict set
of criteria before the shares are allowed to trade again. The New Board is
working very hard to meet the four most important criteria as well as other
measures required by the Stock Exchange.

The first requirement is to inform the market all material information
that is necessary to appraise the Group’s position in light of the
involvement of Mr. Cheng Chee Tock Theodore in the charges by the
ICAC as mentioned in the Company’s announcement of 7 March 2011.
The second requirement is to inform the market of the findings of the
independent reviews and third is to demonstrate that there is no regulatory
concern about management integrity which may pose a risk to investors
and damage market confidence. Fourthly we also need to demonstrate
that we have implemented adequate internal control systems to meet
obligations under the Listing Rules.

The New Board is now working intensively together with our legal advisors
and various professionals to carry out actions necessary to fulfill the
conditions for resumption of trading. Further announcements will be
made about the progress of our plans as and when there are material
developments.

The New Board has engaged an independent accounting firm to carry
out an independent review of the financial positions of the Group and we
have made prudent provisions in the financial statements based on their
recommendations.
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The New Board has also made great efforts to strengthen the Group’s
internal controls and corporate governance. We have appointed an
independent professional institution to conduct a review of the Group’s
internal governance procedure and control systems and to provide
recommendations for further improvements. We believe under the much
strengthened corporate governance environment, the Group is now well
positioned to achieve a growing and sustainable development in the near
future.

To conclude, | would like to express our sincere gratitude, on behalf of the
Board, to our shareholders and business partners for their support in the
past year which saw the Company go through some difficult times. | also
wish to thank the staff for their dedication to the Group during this period.
I remain positive that with continued support from all stakeholders in the
coming year, the Group can look forward to a better future.

SNEAH Kar Loon
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 August 2011
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the Group’s revenue
increased by 23.8% to approximately HK$145,075,000 (2010:
HK$117,149,000). The increase in revenue for the year ended 31 March
2010 was mainly due to the growth in business volume of the packaging
product business.

During the year, the Group reported a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$302,972,000, which was significant larger
than last year’s net loss of approximately HK$78,594,000.

The significant increase in loss of the Group for financial year ended 31
March 2011 was mainly attributable to change in fair value of convertible
note receivables and impairment on various assets and investments.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the year, the Company’s principal activity continued to be
investment holding whilst its major subsidiaries were mainly engaged in
manufacturing and sales of packaging products, watch trading, as well as
digital entertainment business.

The management is working aggressively on the resumption of trading
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange. If the resumption
is successful, the Group will consider acquiring additional capital to
strengthen its financial base.

Other than its existing core business, the management will continue to
put its best effort to explore new businesses to enhance the value of the
Group; to keep operating expenses at the minimum level and to maintain
resources for future developments.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

As at 31 March 2011, the bank and cash balances (including pledged
bank deposits) of the Group amounted to approximately HK$39.07
million. The Group’s bank loans were approximately HK$6.2 million, all are
payable within one year or contain a repayment on demand clause. The
Group’s bank loans are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
granted on a floating rate basis.

The gearing ratio of interest bearing loans against the total equity as at
31 March 2011 was 2.4%. As the majority of bank deposits and cash
on hand were denominated in Australian dollars, Renminbi, Euros and
Hong Kong dollars, the Group’s exchange risk exposure depended on the
movement of the exchange rate of the aforesaid currencies.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Company did not have any material acquisition, disposal and
significant investment in subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the
year ended 31 March 2011.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At the end of the financial year under review, the Group employed 1,963
permanent employees, including 64 employees in Hong Kong and 1,899
in the PRC. The Group continued to review the remuneration packages
of employees with reference to the level and composition of pay, general
market condition and individual performance. Staff benefits include
contribution to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and discretionary
bonus, share option scheme, medical allowance and hospitalization
scheme and housing allowance.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2011, the leasehold land and building of the Group with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$13.5 million were pledged to
secure for bank loans of the Group. In addition, the Group’s banking
facilities were secured by pledged bank deposits and held-to-maturity
investment of approximately HK$2.4 million and HK$2 million respectively.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATIONS

The Group’s contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group has a number of pending
litigations and in the opinion of the legal counsel, it is premature to
predict the outcome. Details of litigations are disclosed in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

SNEAH Kar Loon, aged 54, joined the Group in April 2011 as chairman
of the Board. Mr Sneah was the chief financial officer of the Company
from May 2007 to July 2007, the business development executive of the
Company from July 2007 to October 2007, and the chief executive officer
of the Company from November 2007 to November 2008. Mr Sneah had
a bachelor’s degree in Asian studies from Lawrence University, Wisconsin,
the United States of America, and a master’s degree in international
management from the American Graduate School of International
Management, Arizona, the United States of America. He had held senior
management positions in a global financial institution, and had over 20
years of experience in investment banking, corporate finance, and private
venture capital business.

Dato LIM Kim Wah, also known as LIM Sze Guan, aged 63, joined the
Group in April 2011 as the chief executive officer. Dato Lim obtained his
bachelor’s degree in engineering from the University of Malaya. He has
extensive experience in civil engineering field, and he worked as a civil
engineer in Public Works Department of Malaysia from 1973 to 1976 and
as a general manager in Southland Sdn. Bhd., a property development
company, from 1977 to 1979. From 1980 to 1999, he held managerial
positions in various property development companies. Since 1988 to
2007, he had held a position as chief executive officer and as board
director of various public listed companies, including Magnum Corp Bhd.,
Leisure Management Bhd. and Manila Jockey Club. Dato Lim currently
holds 5,500,000 shares of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

10 Rudy Cheok Kei, aged 50, joined the Group in April 2011. Mr lo was
the chief financial officer of the Company from July 2007 to March 2008.
He is currently a corporate consultant in corporate strategy, restructuring,
mergers and acquisitions and direct investment in China. Mr lo is a
member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
holds a bachelor’s degree in administrative studies from York University,
Toronto, Canada and a master’s degree in business (information
technology) from Curtin University of Technology, Australia.

NG Kwok Lun, aged 52, joined the Group in April 2011. Mr Ng was
the chief financial officer of the Company from July 2008 to December
2008. Mr Ng obtained a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the
City University of Hong Kong in 1991, and obtained a master’s degree
in business from Graduate School of Business, Strathclyde University in
2006. He is also an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Institute of Chartered Secretary and Administrators and
the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. He is also a fellow of The
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants. He is currently the chief
financial officer of Clickoo Limited.
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WOELM Samuel, aged 44, joined the Group in May 2007. He graduated ~ WOELM Samuel ' 445 - R-—ZEZ %1 A NBER
Summa-Cum Laude Japanese and Chinese Studies from the University £E - A REENEEREZSENPEEHELE
of Minnesota. Since 1991, Mr Woelm has been residing in Japan, Hong {8 B A& R EEHZE - @ — L L—E4E  Woelm
Kong and the PRC. He has acquired extensive experience in marketing sc4—HBHERAR - HEEERTEHE - HETSHEERE
and business development as well as developed corporate relationships FBEEHEZ2BLELE - WHS KBRS ERT D
with various international conglomerates. Mr Woelm has extensive hands 228 % *Woelm % A= E R BIE A BT R B A Fg4cEs -
on business experience in the PRC and is proficient in Japanese and A& A B X KA o

Chinese.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS By 3kHITESE

LAI Hock Meng, aged 55, joined the Group in April 2011. Mr Lai has a  #EZ883 - 555% * R T —— 0 A NBEAREE - 8%
Bachelor of Arts degree and a Master of Arts degree from the University 4 #BHFESIE RS Y B8+ Y EELEA - &
of Cambridge in England, majoring in economics. He is also a chartered  &H2 - KN AERSH SO M2 o
financial analyst with the CFA Institute in the United States of America and ~ H4THT - AR EBEEHFTHRESE RZe 8 - B4R
a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom. B A HML Consulting Group B /& + 3% 22 &) & — R A
Mr Lai is currently the Chairman of Singapore-based corporate advisory — ¥ AE D EFER AT o 8L AE T REM
firm HML Consulting Group. Mr Lai is the independent director of various — EZEA5X AR AT FHHATNBIESE - BiET
companies listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, EgEBER AT - SXEEER QA - HEHEBEAFR
including China Energy Limited, China Essence Group Ltd., China Oilfield AT - {Z=8eiElR AR AT « EENERBPR AT - Metax
Technology Services Group Limited, Delong Holdings Limited, Xpress  Engineering Corp Limited X ASTI Holdings Limited © 1§
Holdings Limited, Metax Engineering Corp Limited and ASTI Holdings 75 &R & 322 5 B £ i #) PureCircle Limited B9 33117
Limited. He is also the non-executive director of PureCircle Limited, a &= -

company listed on the London Stock Exchange.

BALAKRISHNAN Narayanan, aged 56, joined the Group in Aprii  BALAKRISHNAN Narayanan ' 565% ' /X — & — —
2011. Mr Balakrishnan obtained his bachelor’s degree in economics in 4 PY A hi B AN £ @ - Balakrishnan %t £ 7 — L+ )\ F
Amherst College, Massachusetts, the United States of America in 1978 E532 B & 22 M Amherst College A48 7 22842
and obtained his master’s degree in journalism in Columbia University iz » 37 7 — JL )\ = & B /5 4t 49 Columbia University &)
in New York in 1980. Mr Balakrishnan has been a director of The Cool —~ $iRZE + 27 - B — L NL/NE AL  Balakrishnan %
Invester Limited, a company specialised in outsourcing editorial services 4 H{F The Cool Invester Limited (IE S © 2 AR A —
to scientific, medical and technical journals and books since 1996. Mr  [HEZRIE - BE LRI HEINHHEERBEO AR -
Balakrishnan worked as the specialist writer on finance in Far Eastern  Balakrishnan 55 4 7% — L\ VE & — AL L PD S F 5 Far
Economic Review from 1989 to 1994, and as the manager in Value  Eastern Economic Review #] & Bt ik EHIEZX - A &
Partners Fund Management from 1994 to 1996. R—NNUE 2= — NS F L8 Value Partners Fund
Management FJAL I o

Dato MYHRE Carl Gunnar, aged 52, joined the Group in April 2011. MYHRE Carl Gunnar£ & - 524% - R -Z— —4 Y
Dato Myhre has been a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of Axis ~ A IIBEARERE - Myhre 2B 8 ST HF=A+HH
REIT Managers Berhad since 15 March 2005. On 20 November 2006, he  #E£ 1! {E Axis REIT Managers Berhad &) 3F %8 37 3F #1 17
was appointed the Non-Independent Executive Deputy Chairman of Axis &% - R - F+— A - +H » KEZTAEAXSs
REIT Managers Berhad. He graduated with a Diploma in Chemistry from  REIT Managers Berhad 8 3E 8 7 #1178 £ /& - B R
the University of Gothenburg, Sweden in 1980 and a Diploma in Marketing ~ — J1./)\ = F 8 % 53 I £ University of Gothenburg © &
from the University of Oslo, Norway in 1981. He is also a director of a  {bE30& » I 7 — 1)\ — F & B 2L University of Oslo
number of private companies, which are involved in property development — JBZETSE R o I A SN Y ELEE RWEE
and property investment. He is also the director of Axis Development Sdn. &L A A TINES - @ — ML NANERE - 1 H 1T Axis
Bhd. since 1999. Dato Myhre currently holds 5,310,000 shares of the  Development Sdn. Bhd. 9% % « Myhre £ B854
Company. 5,310,000 AR R &I AD



LAW Chiu William, aged 52, joined the Group in April 2011. Mr
Law graduated from Ryerson Polytechnic University in Canada with a
bachelor’s degree of technology in 1984. He obtained his master’s degree
in business administration in 2001 from the University of Canberra in
Australia. Mr Law has extensive experience in civil engineering field.

YONG Peng Tak, aged 43, joined the Group in April 2011. Mr Yong has
been the chief executive officer in Fortress Capital Asset Management
(M) Sdn. Bhd. in Malaysia since 2002. Mr Yong obtained his bachelor’s
degree in accountancy in Nanyang Technological Institute, The National
University of Singapore in 1990. He obtained his master’s degree in
business administration from the Imperial College, University of London in
1994. Mr Yong is also a chartered financial analyst with the CFA Institute
in the United States of America and a certified public accountant in
Singapore.

DUTY SUSPENDED DIRECTOR

CHENG Chee Tock Theodore (duty suspended), aged 62, joined the
Group in February 2007. He was educated in the department of electronic
engineering of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr Cheng is also
the chairman, a director and the controlling shareholder of Sino Strategic
International Limited, a company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.
Mr Cheng is a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and sale of packaging
products as well as watch trading respectively. The Group is also engaged
in the provision of the interactive media entertainment in China.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the financial year under review are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 33 of this
Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2011 (2010: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page
139. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the financial year under
review are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the financial year
under review are set out on pages 36 and 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2002. The major terms of the
Share Option Scheme are summarized as follows:
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The Board may at its discretion grant options to any employee,
director, supplier of the Group, customer of the Group, consultant,
adviser, agent, member of the Group, or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity interest.

The purpose is to:

- provide incentives or rewards to the participants who have
made contributions to the Group; or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity interest.

- recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group and any entity in
which the Group holds any equity interest.

The total number of shares in respect of which share options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of approval of the Share Option Scheme and such limit may be
refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. The total maximum
number of shares which might be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme must
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.

The exercise period should be any period fixed by the Board upon
grant of the option but in any event the share option period should
not go beyond 10 years from the date of offer for grant.

The acceptance of a share option must be made within 28 days
from the date of grant with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00

from the grantee to the Company.

The exercise price of a share option shall not be lower than the
higher of:

- the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant which day must be a trading day;

- the average closing price of the Company’s shares for the 5
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

- the nominal value of the Company’s shares.
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7. The life of the Share Option Scheme is effective for 10 years. During 7.  BERRIESTEI AR ATE - REEMBEE
the financial year under review, the movements of the options which Hifd - REBEEBRES B 2 BREZH N
have been granted under the Share Option Scheme are as follows: T

Options to subscribe for shares of the Company

ARBEADRRD ZBRE

At the Lapsed At the Exercise
Category of beginning during end of Date of Exercise price per
participants of the year the year the year grant period share
2EEER| 1) FREY FR BB T BRITEE
Employees 3,000,000 (3,000,000) - 10.12.2008 10.12.2010- HK$0.10

of the Group 09.12.2018

AEEES

3,000,000 (3,000,000) - 10.12.2008 10.12.2011- HK$0.10

09.12.2018
476,250 (407,500) 68,750 30.04.2009  28.02.2010- HK$0.52

28.02.2012
476,250 (407,500) 68,750 30.04.2009  28.08.2010- HK$0.52

28.02.2012
476,250 (407,500) 68,750 30.04.2009  28.02.2011- HK$0.52

28.02.2012
476,250 (407,500) 68,750 30.04.2009  28.08.2011- HK$0.52

28.02.2012

7,905,000 (7,630,000) 275,000
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BEEER

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye- W HEE KA R A EREZA R R 2 A RIMAIK B REXR
laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer IR GIEEFIRA R R B E A 2 RITEE R
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders. e

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,  REWRURME - #EE KR E
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the financial year under review in the BREARERARNEEM BFE 2 REFEARDF -
investment properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group a8 X 2 E B FE D BIBN R & M5 REMEE 16
are set out in notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements ~ & 17 ©

respectively.
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ISSUE OF SHARES BITRMD

During the financial year under review, there was no issue of new shares.  WARBIEEEEZ A » AN G #IEI TG ©

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FEEFRMEERD

In the financial year under review, the percentage of turnover attributable  RZANEIEREREE - NEB AR AR P Bl 2 4%
to the Group’s five largest customers to the total turnover was 52.7%. The  ZEE DL AREE ML EE 7 507% « FAEEFAE
percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer to the  FE(EZ EEBE DL AREBEZFERE 2 20.9% °
total turnover was 20.9%.

In the financial year under review, the percentage of purchases WZALCEEMEFEE  AEBRUSAEERGEN 2
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers to the total purchases was BB D LL AR EEEFEEE 2 41.4% - REFEF KA
41.4%. The percentage of purchase attributable to the Group’s largest — (EREFGRE(E 2 RSB B DL AN E E B ERE 2 16% ©
supplier to the total purchases was 16%.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors, their ﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁiwﬂ CHEEE  FEIBMBALISEER
associates or any shareholder who owns more than 5% of the Company’s ‘A BIA% AN 5% LA 2 fE{a] A% B 7 it (F 1] 3 2= o 8l i
share capital had an interest in any of the major customers or suppliers — fEFgHR RS -

above.
DIRECTORS =
The Directors of the Company during the financial year under review and ~ AR FARNEEGT BFEENBEAFRER AL E
up to the date of this Annual Report were as follows: 20T
Executive Directors: HITESE :
SNEAH Kar Loon (appointed on 6 April 2011) BEW(EE) (RZE——FNASBEZT)
(Chairman)
Dato LIM Kim Wah (appointed on 6 April 2011) LIM Kim (R=Z——FMABEZT)
Wah £&
CHENG Chee (duty suspended with effect from 8 April 2011) K2 iE (BER-_Z—EmMAN\BEEEZ)
Tock Theodore
WU Chuang John (re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011) St (BBAEEN T —FWABEER)
CAO Dongxin (re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011) EESn (BEBAEEN_T—FWANBHEER)
HO Chi Chung Joseph  (re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011) A& (BERABEEN _T——FNANEEGR)
YU Ping (re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011) BB (EBAEEN - ——FMA AT R)
ZHANG Yiwei (re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011) RERE (EBAEEN - ——FMAAHER)
TANG Ming (re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011) EA (BEBAEEN T ——EMANAETR)
HU Xichang (re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011) ik (BBAEEN T —FWABEER)
Non-executive Directors: FHITES .
WOELM Samuel (re-designated from executive Director to WOELM (RZT——F AT HHABRTES
non-executive Director on 15 July 2011) Samuel ATAIENTESR)
IO Rudy Cheok Kei (appointed on 6 April 2011) e E (RZZ——FOANBEZE)
NG Kwok Lun (appointed on 6 April 2011) LB (RZZ——FEANBEZME)



16 C Y Foundation Group Limited Annual Report 2010/11

Independent Non-executive Directors:

LAI'Hock Meng (appointed on 6 April 2011)
LAW Chiu William (appointed on 6 April 2011)
Dato MYHRE Carl Gunnar (appointed on 6 April 2011)

BALAKRISHNAN (appointed on 6 April 2011)
Narayanan
YONG Peng Tak (appointed on 6 April 2011)
WANG Shanchuan (re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011)
NG Pui Lung (re-election as Director voted down on 6 April 2011)
FUNG Pui Cheung (did not offer himself for re-election as Director on
Eugene 6 April 2011)

In accordance with section 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Messrs
CHENG Chee Tock Theodore and WOELM Samuel shall retire and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. In accordance with section 86(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Dato LIM Kim Wah and Dato MYHRE Carl Gunnar shall retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory obligation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements, no
contracts of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

NFHITES .

FRZHA (R=ZZE——FIANBEZT)

=i (RZZ——FMBHEZT)
MYHRE Carl  (R=Z——FWMAAEEE)

Gunnar 2%

BALAKRISHNAN (A=F——FN A BEZT)

Narayanan
tE (R=ZZE——FmANBEZT)

Fill (EEREERN T ——FWASBHEER)
RE#E (EEBEEN T ——FWAABEER)
BIEE (RZE——FHARNATERETAER)
RIE AR QB RIZE87(1) 5 - AKX 2 18 5% & X WOELM

Samuel t A BREERRBAF AL LRE HF
AERBEETESRS - BEAABIMAIZE 862
&+ LIM Kim Wah2& & MYHRE Carl Gunnar£ & # 7
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

As at the end of the financial year under review, the interests or short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise as required to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
were as follows:

hEEEEEERAT —S-TE——S5E®Rs 17

EEES

RARBEFBERR - REARDRIREES RS &
I 5 R B %A ) FE352(6 R E B < e E R
Pracsk - SRIBE REIEIRAISE XV ERE L R\ &
RELETETAERETEFI SR ETRATH
BARANRBEBAZSMARAR(TBMRM)ZE
o BRERARBITHRANAR B KA EEER
(E&EREFMBEGOIEXVED) 2 - BRI &
EFZEEIRBIT

Long Positions in Shares 1D 2 iF =
Number
Name Capacity of shares Shareholding
®H 51 RHEE R e
(%)
CHENG Chee Tock Interest of controlled 1,757,142,856 25.21
Theodore (“Mr Cheng”)® corporation

EzE(KEE]D® ZIEHERE 2 s
HO Chi Chung Joseph Beneficial owner 600,000 0.01
Al EmfEaA
WU Chuang John Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.16
Rt EmEE A
NG Pui Lung Beneficial owner 1,140,000 0.02
RERE EmEB A

1,768,882,856 25.40
Note: Bfi5E
(@) The interest was held by Super Bonus Management Limited (“‘Super Bonus”), (@) It # 25 J5 B Super Bonus Management Limited ([ Super

Treasure Bay Assets Limited (“Treasure Bay”), Pacific Equity Development

Corp. (“Pacific Equity”), Super Mark Profits Corp. (“Super Mark”), Golden View

Worldwide Limited (“Golden View”) and Super Crown Venture Inc. (“Super

Crown”). Each of Super Bonus, Treasure Bay, Pacific Equity, Super Mark and

Golden View was wholly owned by Ms YUNG Leonora (the spouse of Mr Cheng),

whereas Super Crown was owned as to 50% by Ms YUNG Leonora. Mr Cheng

was deeded to be interested in all these shares, details of which have been

disclosed in the section headed “Substantial Shareholders” below.

Bonus ) * Treasure Bay Assets Limited ([ Treasure Bay]) *
Pacific Equity Development Corp. ([ Pacific Equity]) -
Super Mark Profits Corp. ([ Super Mark]) ~ Golden View
Worldwide Limited ([ Golden View |) 52 Super Crown Venture
Inc. ([ Super Crown #7A « ftEZBBRELEZ+2E
# 7% Super Bonus * Treasure Bay * Pacific Equity * Super
Mark } Golden View * I7# A Super Crown 50% 2 #x
BT [FERE | &P - REERR BEEZERN
Wz o ZERDZFAMEMEEHN T FBREI—EHR -
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Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the financial year under review,
none of the Directors, chief executive or their associates had any personal,
family, corporate or other beneficial interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO,
or otherwise as required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at the end of the financial year under review, the persons/companies,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, who had interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the register of the Company were
as follows:

BREAEPFULE SN - RARBHBRFER - RREH R
HIB RHI 3521 BfF < HEas B R AracsR - SR
BESRAEEOIBXVBELRE R LTAA
ERETEFRINBETR BEEE  THAER
PWE BB TARBEERNAR R R E A A
B (ERLEF LB ROIEXVEL) 28 - HHRED
SEFTFHREEMEA - Rik - RRIE M EmER
KA ©

FERR

RABBHRFER @ REFFMAEGHIFEXVES
“REZGRARERARRIRRZIEI 2 FHEME
7z m B R MR - TIAL  RE(EFHAR
BITHARERR N FE R AN Ry AR R R 2 i s =k

KRBT -

Long Positions in Shares 1D 2 iF =&
Number

Name Capacity of shares Shareholding
®E 514 RHEE HRE

(%)
POH Po Lian Interest of controlled corporation 3,246,264,127 51.08
B E RPERDEE 2 s
Luck Continent Limited Beneficial owner 3,246,264,127 46.61
ImMBERAT BEmfia A
Mr Cheng® Interest of controlled corporation 1,757,142,856 25.21
RS E@ RPEGDEE 2 R
YUNG Leonora® Interest of controlled corporation 1,757,142,856 25.21
rEge R EE 2 s
Super Bonus Management Limited® Beneficial owner 1,500,000,000 23.61
Super Bonus Management Limited® EmEB A
Note: Fff3E
(@) Pursuant to the SFO, Mr Cheng was deemed to be interested in these shares,  (a) RIEFESF R BEGED  KAEEWRRAEERZSRMD 27

i RERD 2B B REN EX E S R

details of which have been disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests”
above.



Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the financial year under review,
no other person/company, other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had any personal, family, corporate or other beneficial interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the register of
the Company.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration of the employees and the holding of offices of the Group
were based on internal equity factors and external market conditions and
will be reviewed from time to time.

The remuneration of the employees including Executive Directors and
Non-executive Directors generally consists of:

- fixed salary/allowance — which is set according to the duties,
responsibilities, skills, experiences and market influences;

- pension — which is based on the Mandatory Provident Fund
Contribution Scheme or the local statutory pension scheme;

- short-term variable incentive — which may include commission,
discretionary cash bonus depending on the achievement of short-
term corporate objectives and/or personal targets;

- long-term variable incentive — which may include share options
designed to encourage long-term commitment; and

- other benefits in kind — which may include accommodation,
company car and related services.

The remuneration of Independent Non-executive Directors was at a fixed
annual/monthly payment.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the financial year under review, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of its shares in the hands of the public
throughout the financial year under review and up to the date of this
Annual Report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the end of the reporting period of the
Group are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this Annual Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has sent a letter to each of the three Independent Non-
executive Directors during the financial year under review (“INED”)
requesting for the written annual confirmation for compliance with
rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange but one of them has not replied. However, the Company has
stated in the said letter that it will assume that the INED confirms his
annual independence if no such written confirmation is received by a
specified deadline.
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AUDITOR

Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited retired as auditor of the Company in the
annual general meeting held on 6 April 2011 (the “AGM”) and its re-
appointment as auditor of the Company for the ensuing year was not
passed in the AGM. Thereafter, at a special general meeting of the
Company held on 8 August 2011, ANDA CPA Limited was appointed as
the new auditor of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March
2011.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 March 2011 were audited by ANDA CPA Limited and that for
the financial years ended 31 March 2010, 31 March 2009 and 31 March
2008 were audited by Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting
to re-appoint ANDA CPA Limited as auditor of the Company to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
SNEAH Kar Loon
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 August 2011
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This corporate governance report (“CG Report”) presents the corporate
governance matters during the financial year (“CG Period”), required to
be disclosed under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), in particular, the
required compliance matters set out in Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (“CG Code”) and the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Securities Code”) contained in the Listing
Rules.

ADOPTION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRINCIPLES

On 29 February 2008 (“Adoption Date”), the Board adopted a set of
corporate governance principles (“CG Principles”) which aligns with or
is more restrictive than all requirements set out in the CG Code and the
Securities Code contained in the Listing Rules. Before the Adoption Date,
the Model Code had been taken as the Company’s code of conduct
regarding the Directors’ securities trading. The Board had made specific
written enquiry to each executive Director (‘ED”) and independent non-
executive Director (“INED”) in respect of the due compliance of the rules
and principles relevant to the Model Code.

The Company had duly complied with the CG Principles throughout
the financial year under review except for the deviations summarized as
follows:

CG Code

A.3 Each INED must provide an annual confirmation of his
independence to the listed issuer.

- The Company has sent a letter to each of the three INEDs
requesting for the written annual confirmation but one of
them has not replied. However, the Company has stated
in the said letter that it will assume that the INED confirms
his annual independence during the CG Period if no such
written confirmation is received by a specified deadline.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Details of the composition of the Board are set out in the Directors’ Report
of the Annual Report.

The Board monitors the development and financial performance and
sets strategic directions of the Group’s business. Matters including
material investment decisions, approving financial accounts, declaration
of dividend, are reserved to the Board. Resolutions on operation matters
are reserved to the Board of EDs. Commencing from 9 May 2007, matters
involving nomination and removal of Directors have been delegated to
the Board of EDs. The management implements the Board’s decisions,
makes business proposals and reports to the Board on the overall
performance of the Group. Daily operations of the business are also
delegated to management.

During the CG Period, the Board had held 42 physical Board meetings.
Out of the 42 Board meetings, 2 of them were held to discuss and/or
approve the annual and the interim financial performance/results of the
Group while 40 of them were held to discuss, among other things, various
projects contemplated by the Group and the legal matters of the Group.
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During the CG Period, the attendances of each of the Directors at the ~ R{EE AR SEER LiEEe e HERE
above Directors’ meetings are presented as follows: WMEFNNT :

Director Capacity Attendance E=Z 514 HEER
CHENG Chee Tock Theodore ED & Chairman 21/42  RZiE WITEEREIRE 21/42
WOELM Samuel ED 33/42 ~ WOELM Samuel  #{7E= 33/42
WU Chuang John ED 23/42 =it WITES 23/42
CAO Dongxin ED 4/42 BRI WITES 4/42
HO Chi Chung Joseph ED 37/42 A WITES 37/42
YU Ping ED 24/42  HBF WITES 24/42
ZHANG Yiwei ED 14/42  SRR(E HITES 14/42
TANG Ming ED 34/42  FERA WITES 34/42
HU Xichang ED 13/42  #HE WITES 13/42
WANG Shanchuan INED 27/42  EJI BAIERITES 27/42
NG Pui Lung INED 28/42 REBEE BAUIERITES 28/42
FUNG Pui Cheung Eugene  INED 28/42  BEEE BAUIEITES 28/42

——wxERs 23
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During the CG Period, none of the Directors above has or maintained any
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship with any of
the other Directors.

The terms of the appointments of the above INEDs are subject to
retirement and re-election every year at every annual general meeting
of the Company. Other Directors were not subject to a specific term of
appointment except that they were subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws including the
retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Throughout the CG Period, the Company had maintained a Remuneration
Committee as required under the CG Code.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee included the
following:

- to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure for the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management officers as defined by the Board
of EDs;

- to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments;

- to review and approve the compensation payable to EDs and senior
management officers in connection with any loss or termination of
their office or appointment; and

- to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

During the CG Period, the Remuneration Committee had held 2 physical
meetings for the purpose of considering the remuneration and special
bonus of the Directors.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee, and the respective
attendances of the members are presented as follows:
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Member Attendance & HEER
CHENG Chee Tock Theodore (chairman of committee) 2/2 KZE(ZEEeXE) 2/2
WANG Shanchuan 2/2 F 1)l 2/2
FUNG Pui Cheung Eugene 2/2 BIEE 2/2
The summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee for ~ & FiE S @ N2 S 4HMET Y TEMERE

the CG Period included:

- review and approval of the remuneration package of each Director
including benefits in kind, pension right, bonus payment and
compensation payable; and

- review and approval of the special bonus of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Director for
the financial year under review is set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements in the Annual Report.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board shall be composed of members with mixed skills and
experience with appropriate weights necessary to accomplish the
Group’s business development, strategies, operation, challenges and
opportunities. Each member of the Board shall possess, be recognized
for and be able to exhibit high and professional standard of a set of core
criteria of competence.

The Board has not set up a nomination committee. Since 9 May 2007, the
functions of nomination and removal of Directors have lain with the EDs
who are responsible for assessing the qualification, experience as well as
integrity of any potential candidate to be appointed as new Director.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Throughout the CG Period, the Company had maintained an Audit
Committee as required under the Listing Rules.

The major and function of the Audit Committee included the following:

- to consider the appointment of external auditor and independent
accountant, the audit fees and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor and independent accountant of the
Group;
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- to discuss with the external auditor and independent accountant
the nature and scope of the audit;

- to review the interim and annual financial statements before
submission to the Board;

- to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
review, final audit and independent review, and any matters the
external auditor and independent accountant may wish to discuss;

- to review the external auditor’s and independent accountant’s
management letters and management’s response;

- to review the Group’s internal control systems;

- to conduct an annual review of the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff for the issuer’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and training programs and budgets;
and

- to consider the major findings of internal investigation.
During the CG Period, the Audit Committee had held 20 physical
meetings. Annual/interim results and/or internal audit of the Group were

discussed during the meetings.

The composition of the Audit Committee, and the respective attendances
of the members are presented as follows:
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Member Attendance RE HEER
WANG Shanchuan (chairman of committee) 20/20 EWJI(ZBEXE) 20/20
NG Pui Lung 20/20 REEE 20/20
FUNG Pui Cheung Eugene 20/20  BEEE 20/20

For the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the Audit Committee had
performed the following duties:

- reviewed and commented on the half yearly and the annual financial
report of the Group of the financial year under review before
submission to the Board for adoption and publication;

- met with the auditor and independent accountant to discuss
the financial matters of the Group and reviewed their findings,
recommendations and representations;

HEE-_T——F=A=+—RHIUBFE EKZ
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- reviewed and approved the terms of engagement and scope of  — T MR A AN R IE L e 5TAl 2 (L EA R AR
services of the auditor and independent accountant; and HEE &
- reviewed the Company’s works on internal control. - BHARB BN TIE -

Based on the reviews and discussions performed by the Audit Committee, REEXZEZEE€@MBEIT BB NG @ EREESD -
the Audit Committee had:

- recommended to the Board for the approval of the unaudited - AR EASEMERT - S ERACE REE 2
interim financial statements of the financial year under review before REEZPEBERANESIREHEESR
the announcement of the interim results; and N

- recommended to the Board for the approval of the audited financial - AW SER] - S ERBE REE 2K
statements of the financial year under review together with the ERB SRR IERBEN 2 2RI RE R ESSIR
Auditor's Report thereto attached, before the announcement of the HHEEER -
annual results.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION % B Bl 5

The remunerations in respect of audit and non-audit services for the year AR GZEED - LiEEAMERMAAER AT - RE
ended 31 March 2011 provided by the Company’s auditor, ANDA CPA Z=—ZFE——4= A=+ —HIZHEZRIETZRBE

Limited, are as follows: BEEFMAT

HK$'000 TR
Statutory audit services 785 FNZRTE 785
Non-audit service — review on annual results announcement 15 BRI —ERFEEERNG 15

Total 800 &zt 800




28 C Y Foundation Group Limited Annual Report 2010/11

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the
accounts of the Group. In preparing the accounts for the financial year
under review, the Directors have:

- based on a going concern basis;

- selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
and

- made judgments and estimates that were prudent, fair and
reasonable.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report from page 29 to 32.

REVIEW OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing, maintaining and reviewing an
effective system of internal control and safeguarding the assets and the
interests of the Group and the shareholders as well.

The Group has established policies and procedures for approval and
control of expenditures. Pursuant to a risk-based methodology, the Board
plans its internal control review with resources being focused on higher
risk areas. Internal control review has been conducted on ongoing basis
to ensure that the policies and procedures in place are adequate. Any
findings and recommendations would be discussed by the management
and followed up properly and timely.

The Directors had conducted a review over the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group including functions of financial,
operation, compliance and risk management. The Board has not been
aware of any internal control deficiencies of the Group. The scope of
review had been reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee.

By order of the Board
SIK Siu Kwan

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 31 August 2011
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ANDA

CPA Limited
REGRMEBMERAE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
C Y FOUNDATION GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of C Y Foundation
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 33 to 138, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company (“the Directors”) are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about  F/ESFRMTIRFUEREBGS M REE S5
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. R TEE L 2 BIZRE « FMET 22 FEUA R ZEED
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 7 #IET - B3 EH B R IREF SR M E SR A P ER
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated X717 H & AERIRM 7 AR - EFEZERMRE - %
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 8T EEZ A BRE &R EE M A Fi 5| SRR 4 i
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s R Z R 2 RIS - AREHEE > BZEF - A1
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true  3EA¥ AR Z NG| 2 MaeR R ER - BERINBE
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in I EBESEREAZ @t RE 2 SEERAIEE €5
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on L5t 7 BB - AR EGEE MG RRER 2 BEYHRT
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes =

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and EZf(EZ  EZCEGAOIREEZEREE AT

appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

1. Opening balances and corresponding figures

SRRy BREBENE RIBHEE -

BRRFERRZEE
1. FORBREERT

BRAFERAMBERRABERE T2 ELE

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year

ended 31 March 2010 which form the basis for the corresponding 2 BRARBE-_T-TF-A=-+—HILFE
figures presented in the current year’s consolidated financial AR RTIERESEZ - BEEUELH

statements were not audited by us. There were no satisfactory ERIEFERBERNAEEGEAMEHRER ZFY)
audit procedures for us to ascertain the existence, accuracy, HER MBS T 2 BT - R - 25| KT
presentation and completeness of the opening balances and 1% o

corresponding figures as shown in the current year’s consolidated

financial statements.

REFEBRE TRRESERRZ AT
ESD - SEEEAE MEWE - KB

2. Change in fair value of convertible note receivables, 2,
impairment of various assets, write-off of property,

plant and equipment and share of loss of associates RRERELBEE NTER
recognised in the current year
Included in the consolidated financial statements are the amounts SFAGZAEPBRR 2 AR EE RN AFE

BE) . XIBEERME WIEWE - HBERERE
M EG & A RIEE 9 54761,612,000%8 7T
63,047,000 7T + 6,410,000 7T & 12,118,000
BTGB (ZERE]D)RBE-S—F=A
=T —HIEFEZHEEEZTER - ERZESE
W ARRERBE R 2 HER D P H 255,

in respect of the change in fair value of convertible note receivables
of approximately HK$61,612,000, impairment of various assets
of approximately HK$63,047,000, write-off of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$6,410,000 and share of loss of
associates of approximately HK$12,118,000 (collectively “these
amounts”) recognised in consolidated profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2011. In view of the circumstances as further Fre— il - EEEEIESENEEEE - U
described in other points as included in the basis of qualified opinion BEZSFIER G B AR ERNAFE BT
section of this report, we were unable to obtain sufficient evidence FE o

to ascertain whether these amounts should be accounted for and

reported in the current year or prior years.



3. Limited access to accounting books and records

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based
on the accounting books and records maintained by the Group.
However, as further explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors have been unable to obtain the complete
set of accounting books and records in respect of certain of the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries located in the People’s
Republic of China (collectively “these Subsidiaries”) for the year
ended 31 March 2011.

Due to the insufficiency of supporting documentation and
explanations, we were unable to carry out audit procedures
to satisfy ourselves as to whether the loss of approximately
HK$72,306,000 for the year ended 31 March 2011 and net
liabilities of approximately HK$1,423,000 as at that date, and
the related disclosure notes in relation to these Subsidiaries, as
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group,
have been accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements. We were also unable to obtain
sufficient reliable evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the
Group has any significant contingent liabilities and commitments as
at 31 March 2011 in respect of these Subsidiaries that need to be
adjusted for or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

Any adjustments to the figures relating to points 1 to 3 above might have
significant consequential effects on the Group’s results and cash flows for
the two years ended 31 March 2010 and 2011 and the financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2010, and the related disclosures thereof in
the consolidated financial statements.

Any adjustments to the figures relating to point 3 above might also have
significant consequential effects on the financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2011, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

QUALIFIED OPINION

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters as described in the
basis for qualified opinion paragraphs above, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at
31 March 2011, and of its results and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without further qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the disclosures
made in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements concerning the
possible outcome of various legal proceedings initiated by the Company,
its subsidiaries and its controlling shareholder against certain directors
of the Company (the “Defendant Directors”), mainly alleging that the
Defendant Directors had breached their fiduciary duties in relation to
various transactions entered into by the Group. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Defendant Directors had retired or had the duties in the
Group suspended, and the aforesaid legal proceedings would not have
significant detrimental impact on the financial position and operations of
the Group.

ANDA CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Practising Certificate Number P03614

Hong Kong, 31 August 2011
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #&Z=—Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

2011 2010
—EB——F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FEE BEET T BT
Turnover B 9 145,075 117,149
Cost of sales SHE A (91,349) (72,159)
Gross profit EF| 53,726 44,990
Other income E A A 9 30,357 20,761
Selling and distribution costs SHE Ky SHRAR (4,768) (4,104)
Administrative expenses THEREMEZ (161,777) (129,876)
Loss from operations REKEEKZEE (82,462) (68,229)
Change in fair value of WEMHEL
investment properties N EZE 36,080 13,035
Change in fair value of AR R IR RN 2
convertible note receivables NEEEE) (61,612) 6,042
Exchange gains P& 5 U e 1,521 12,751
Impairment of various assets RIBEEZRE (164,011) (31,023)
Property, plant and equipment written off WEEYZE - IR R (10,220) (11,118)
Share of results of associates JE(REt SN B2 A (12,118) 35
Finance costs B 7% & 10 (989) (1,610)
Loss before tax BR¥: AT 18 (293,811) (80,117)
Income tax FRGHE 11 (10,549) (3,429
Loss for the year KEEEHE 12 (304,360) (83,546)
Other comprehensive income: Hit 2wk -
Change in fair value of EREIREMER
owner-occupied properties EEa=1Ly Sl
when transferred to N EEZE)
investment properties 3,363 -
Exchange differences on HE B IMS & ETS
translating foreign operations EECEREZR 7,369 1,554
Income tax relating to components Hib2mia=simn 2
of other comprehensive income TERAFTIS (841) -
Total comprehensive income REEFEHMBRB %
for the year, net of tax 2HEMAETE 9,891 1,554
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEEHAE (294,469) (81,992)
Loss for the year attributable to: MR ATEEAFEERE
Owners of the Company RAFEB A (302,972) (78,594)
Non-controlling interests eI (1,388) (4,952)
(304,360) (83,546)
Total comprehensive loss IR ATEEERFEE
for the year attributable to: 2EZHARE:
Owners of the Company KABEERAA (293,148) (77,057)
Non-controlling interests eI (1,321) (4,935)
(294,469) (81,992)
Loss per share BRER

Basic (HK cents per share) EAR(BREW) 15 (4.35) (1.22)
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At 31 March At 31 March At 1 April
2011 2010 2009
—E——F —E-EF —EENF
=A=+—H =A=+—H MA—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FaE BT T BT T BT T
(Restated) (Restated)
(#&E7)) (#&=:5))
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment properties REMHE 16 110,937 62,876 49,494
Property, plant and equipment LE Y] 17 43,057 114,790 138,505
Intangible assets mAE 18 333 19,580 31,685
Goodwill EES 19 55,931 101,280 107,130
Interests in associates NG e 20 - 25,033 4,002
Convertible note receivables at FBIBBERIE A FEYER
fair value through profit or loss 2 AR AR SR R FE IR 21 - 48,616 20,471
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTA 22 - 193 -
Held-to-maturity investment HEZIHBEERE 23 - 2,000 2,000
Deposits paid for acquisition WEEFEEL
of intangible assets =ENEE - - 2,196
210,258 374,368 355,483
Current assets RBEE
Inventories & 24 29,796 28,774 21,952
Trade and other receivables B 5 N A A FEUGR 25 33,329 58,427 41,608
Deposits paid for acquisition of B - e R
property, plant and equipment BEZEMNRTE® - 23,576 23,431
Convertible note receivables at BIBBERIE AN FEYER
fair value through profit or loss 2 AR AR SR R FE R 21 - 12,996 4,020
Loans to non-controlling LB ATE
shareholders of a subsidiary JEERRIR R 2 BN - - 3,955
Due from a related party JRE W B 5 kR 26 1,185 20 -
Derivative financial instruments PTESmMIA 22 - 1,149 850
Held-to-maturity investment BAEZEIEEEE 23 2,000 - -
Current tax assets MBI E E 295 214 -
Bank fiduciary deposit RITZ AT - - 12,102
Pledged bank deposits EHRITFER 27 2,428 22,050 18,051
Bank and cash balances IRITMIR & 4554 27 36,638 105,462 231,058
105,671 252,668 357,027
Current liabilities RENEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N A FERR 28 37,585 30,035 32,006
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTA 22 46 - -
Due to directors JEfTE % 2 A 29 - 39 6
Due to related companies JERRIE AR 2 FH 29 - 15 24
Finance lease payables REE LR RIE 30 - 356 356
Bank borrowings RITIEE 31 6,180 43,556 59,307
Current tax liabilities mENIAAE - - 583
43,811 74,001 92,282
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As at 31 March 2011
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RZZT——F=A=+—8

At 31 March At 31 March At 1 April
2011 2010 2009
—E——fF —E-EF —ETNEF
=A=+—H =A=+—H mAH—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FaE BT T BT T BT T
(Restated) (Restated)
(&ED) (&)
Net current assets REEEZFE 61,860 178,667 264,745
Total assets less WEER
current liabilities REBEE 272,118 553,035 620,228
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Finance lease payables REE AL SRR 30 - 58 414
Convertible loan notes Al E R E R - - 13,597
Deferred tax liabilities BEIBEE 32 14,929 3,809 1,284
14,929 3,867 15,295
NET ASSETS FEE 257,189 549,168 604,933
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital f& 7S 33 6,969 6,969 4,853
Reserves 1] 247,921 540,935 596,125
Equity attributable to owners ViN/NEIEZZEDN
of the Company JE(LHER 254,890 547,904 600,978
Non-controlling interests Eealiig 2 2,299 1,264 3,955
TOTAL EQUITY HRER 257,189 549,168 604,933

The consolidated financial statements on pages 33 to 138 were approved R EIZE 138 B 2R AMBHRER = ——F )\ A
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 August 2011 and =+ — BEZEFSHEREETE TR THIEER

are signed on its behalf by: REE
Approved by: BEE -
SNEAH Kar Loon Dato LIM Kim Wah PEsa LIM Kim Wah £ &

Director Director EE EFE
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

Attributable to owners of the Company

BOAREARE
Foreign
Asset curency  Capital Non-
Share Capital ~ revaluation Other translation redemption  Reserve Accumulated controlling
Sharecapital  premium  reserve  reseve  reseve  reserve reserve fund losses Total  interests Total
Re  BOEE  EAEE HEE(RE  EMRR JMABER BAWERE  BRE  BiEE B HERER it
HKS000  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$00D
AT ESTr o BETn M BT BT T BT AETn BT BT AT
(Note ) (Note b) (Note )
(Hika) (&) (Hike)
At1 Apr 2009 W-FENERA-A 4853 2513 5,756 084 (659) 2,342 1190 185 (06340 600978 395 604,933
Total comprehensive income/ ERRENA
Jos for e e (EB)eg - - - - Tt - SR mEl A% B
Issue of sheres; Bl
- conversion of converole -BATAR
e nots EE 0 N/ 17 - - - - - - B - B
- seffement of consideraion W
inespect o acquiston RARE
0f subsiaries pi 3 3,062 - - - - - - - 3065 - 3065
- exercise of warant -k aRER
subscripton ights TEkE 600 540 - - - - - - - 6,000 - 6,000
- exercise of sharg optons ~fiffEhiE 13 2954 (1,767) - - - - - - 1200 - 1200
Captal contributon by nor- HEAE
contoling sharehalders HilRRE
ofasubsidary LUE - - - - - - - - - - 2244 204
Recognifon ofequiy-setted TR
share-based payment LRAEREH - - ] - - - - - - i - i)
Lapse ofshare options BRELHK - - i - - - - - 1 - - -
At 31 March 2010 RE-EF=Rz1-8R
and 1 A 2010 RE-F5ME-E 6% T8t W6 [ Mg 0 15 PSRN MM 1M 51
Total comprehensive income/ ERa@A
(lss for the year (BR)EE - - - 252 - 1302 - - (302972 (203148 (1.321)  (294469)
Reoognion of eqity-sete TNERS
share-based payment LR - - 1% - - - - - - 134 - 1%
Capltl ontrbuton by HEAE
non-controling shareholders HIRRR
ofasubsidary LUE - - - - - - - - - - 2,35 2,35
Lapse ofshare options iR - - (455) - - - - - 455 - - -
At 31 March 2011 N5—F=f=1-H 6969 799811 3 3,206 (555) 32,181 1,190 185 (588,050) 254890 229 27,189




Notes:

The capital reserve comprises (i) the fair value of the number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements and (i) the equity component of the convertible
loan notes issued by the Company which is the difference between the gross
proceeds of the issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned
to the liability component, representing the conversion option for the holder to
convert the notes into equity.

Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration and the book
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities attributable to the
additional interest acquired in subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”), certain subsidiaries established in the PRC are required to set aside a
portion of their profit after income tax. The reserve fund is restricted as to its use.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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2011 2010
—EB——F —E-EF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
FEE BET T BT T
(Restated)
(g =%))
Cash flows from operating activities RETEMBRERE
Loss before tax MRt ATE 1R (293,811) (80,117)
Adjustments for: EEEE
Finance costs W5 E A 989 1,610
Equity-settled share-based payment DARERS ST 2 IR B4R 1+ 134 65
Share of results of associates DIhEE RN E) A 12,118 (35)
Interest income FBUA (2,779) (2,957)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERE 2,025 1,788
Changes in fair value of WEMEZ
investment properties NFEEE (36,080) (13,035)
Changes in fair value of convertible AR IR FE R 2
note receivables NHEEE) 61,612 (6,042)
Changes in fair value of derivative PTESmMIAZ
financial instruments NEEE) 1,388 (1,342)
Depreciation of property, L E YL
plant and equipment ZITE 11,227 14,809
Loss/(gain) on disposal of derivative HETESmTA
financial instruments 2%k () 1,557 (739)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries B A Rz Was 35(a) - (1,624)
Impairment of various assets BHEEEZRE 164,011 31,023
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWEE - BB
plant and equipment 2 (W) Eia (18,948) 568
Reversal of impairment loss HinEl Rz
on other receivables REE B (581) (5,330)
Property, plant and equipment written off WSEYIZE - e R 10,220 11,118
Inventories written off TFEMH 119 114
Waiver of other payables e HAMERR (1,092) (1,168)
Operating cash flows before EEESEHA 2
working capital changes KEReRE (87,891) (51,294)
Increase in inventories FEEMm (10,403) (6,932)
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 & E At e MR 5,678 (3,573)
and other receivables w5 )
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K B A FE A 55 00 8,642 6,697
Cash used in operations KEFRARE (83,974) (55,102)
PRC enterprise income tax paid BN EEREHR (8) 7)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERBEBNEH (1,123) (1,700)
Net cash used in operating activities KEERERACESTE (85,105) (56,819)
Cash flows from investing activities RETEMBRERE
Acquisition of convertible Ui AT AR SR R
note receivables JEUR - (34,878)
Acquisition of an associate Uy B — B 2 A ) - (25,000)
Deposit paid for acquisition of 15 T A AR SR R R MR
convertible note receivables ZEfMEI® - (12,000)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged HIRERTT 19,622 (3,999)

bank deposits

TR L,(50)
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #&Z=—Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

2011 2010
= —T-TF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B s BT T BT T
(Restated)
(ggE5)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ BEE¥% - #23 & (14,181) (2,850)
Purchase of intangible assets BERVEE (466) (1,292)
Advance to non-controlling —MHME R E TR
shareholders of a subsidiary RE 2B (2,133) (229)
Net cash outflow in respect HEHBARZ
of the disposal of subsidiaries RE ML FE 35(a) = (187)
Decrease in bank fiduciary deposit FITHFEAGFETORL = 12,102
Redemption of convertible B O] AT AR =R
note receivables FENR - 3,876
(Payments for)/receipts from settlement of ~ &ETAE SR T A
derivative financial instruments (f130),/ Fri85km (1,557) 1,589
Interest received B UF & 1,103 1,576
Proceeds from disposal of property, EWE - B REREZ
plant and equipment FriS5RI8 79,618 342
Deposits paid for game software R B 3 SR R TR
development and licenses Frffize (30,000) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) REFTHELE (A2
investing activities He&FE 52,006 (60,950)
Cash flows from financing activities METBRBRERE
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (42,192) (24,751)
Interest paid 2RFLE (989) (1,554)
Repayment of finance lease payables EiERE R ENRIA (414) (356)
Advance to a related party —HHEALTZTER (1,165) (20)
Repayment to related companies @%@LQ AITES (15) 9
New bank borrowings raised x%ﬁfﬂﬁfﬁ%’( 4,816 9,000
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares ?éﬁ BRFTS IR - 7,200
Capital injection from non- FEPEAR AR R
controlling shareholders ZEE 2,356 2,244
(Repayment to)/advances from directors EE2(EB) /B (39) 33
Net cash used in financing activities METBERAZESTFE (37,642) (8,213)
Net decrease in cash ReRBREEEEE
and cash equivalents BB (70,741) (125,982)
Cash and cash equivalents RENZRE R
at beginning of year Re&FEEE 105,462 231,058
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate  MEE R & &) 7 2 1,917 386
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FREERREEEHER 36,638 105,462

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BHERBEELZEEE 2O
Bank and cash balances RITRIR 8 36,638 105,462
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1.

BE-T——FA=+—ALFEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

C Y Foundation Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Bermuda Companies Act. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company (“the Directors”), the Company’s ultimate holding
company is Luck Continent Limited (“Luck Continent”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section of
the annual report. The shares of the Company are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and the trading in the shares of the Company has been suspended
since 31 August 2010.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Suspension of trading in the shares of the Company

At the request of the Company, trading in its shares on the Stock
Exchange has been suspended since 31 August 2010. Reference
is made to the Company’s public announcement (“announcement”)
dated 31 August 2010 in respect of suspension of trading
(the “Suspension”) in the shares of the Company and various
announcements of the Company since the Suspension and up to
the date of this annual report, in particular, the announcements
of the Company dated 13 September 2010, 7 October 2010, 6
December 2010, and 7 March 2011 in relation to the background
leading to the Suspension of the trading in the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange and the investigation conducted
by the Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC”).

—RER

PEEEEEERARARE ] AREGRE
REER BRETMK L 2 ERRERAT - A
RAEZ(ESRARAARRIER AR A
Luck Continent Limited ([ Luck Continent ] ) (A%
BEZES([ABEXHS ) EMKL) - A2
FIFEM SR &+ B B 2 i B R AR
ZIRABVER | —ETREE - ARBRNNE B
ARGHARAR(BRA]) LM WA-T—
TFENAZT—HBYEES -

AAR EBEBRIERR  HHBARZE
BEBENERA M BERAM 40
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AARRGEEEE

JERAREN  BIrE—ZE—ZFN\A=+—H
BREBRZMEEEE - ZIRMARAREEEAR
ARHEE((EEDTEZABRAE-T—ZSFN
A=+—RAz2 2 (2D ARARAT BT FiR
BEEARFRHEIERE BN TR D P ST
EEEESUARERRAZ([RERAZDERZ
AETHE 2 SEAG - BRIRAARIBHAZST
—ZFNA+=A  ZFT—TF+ALH =&
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Suspension of trading in the shares of the Company
(Continued)

At the latest annual general meeting of the Company held on 6
April 2011, resolutions were passed by the shareholders of the
Company to appoint Mr. Sneah Kar Loon, Mr. Lai Hock Meng,
Mr. Law Chiu William, Dato Myhre Carl Gunnar, Mr. Balakrishnan
Narayanan, Mr. Yong Peng Tak, Dato Lim Kim Wah (also known as
Dato Lim Sze Guan), Mr. lo Rudy Cheok Kei and Mr. Ng Kwok Lun
as directors of the Company. The board of Directors (the “Board”)
resolved to suspend the authorities and duties of Mr. Cheng Chee
Tock, Theodore (“Mr. Cheng”) as a director and all other position
he may have in the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and/
or associates with effect from 8 April 2011, in view of Mr. Cheng’s
involvement in certain regulatory investigation/prosecution by
relevant authorities (including but not limited to ICAC) and possible
beaches of fiduciary duties until further determined by the Board.
Further details of the changes of the Directors and the suspension
of duties of Mr. Cheng were disclosed in the note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements and the related announcements
of the Company dated 8 April 2011 and 11 April 2011.

On 6 April 2011, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange, in which the Stock Exchange stated the following
conditions in relation to the resumption of trading in the shares of
the Company:

(@  inform the market all material information that is necessary
to appraise the Group’s position in light of Mr. Cheng’s
involvement of the charges by the ICAC (the “ICAC case”)
as mentioned in the Company’s announcement of 7 March
2011;

(b)  inform the market the findings of the independent reviews
over the financial position of the Group;

(c) demonstrate that there is no regulatory concern about
management integrity which will pose a risk to investors and
damage market confidence; and

(d)  demonstrate that there are adequate internal control systems
to meet obligations under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”)

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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BE-Z——F=-A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Suspension of trading in the shares of the Company
(Continued)

The Company should also comply with the Listing Rules and all
applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong and its place of
incorporation before resumption. The Stock Exchange may modify
any of the above and/or impose further conditions at its discretion.

The Company is in the progress of fulfilling the request of the Stock
Exchange and will inform the public when there is any material
development on the resumption process and the progress of the
ICAC case.

Limited access to accounting books and records

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 16 June 2011,
the Board noted that the company seals, chops, documents,
accounting books and records of the Company’s certain PRC
subsidiaries (the “PRC Subsidiaries”) were not in the possession or
custody by the respective companies. Although relevant directors’
and shareholders’ resolutions had been passed by the Group’s off-
shore holding companies of the PRC Subsidiaries to change the
legal representatives of the PRC Subsidiaries, the changes had not
yet been effected as the corporate chops and documents were
missing and the former legal representatives (including but not
limited to Mr. Cheng) of those companies were not co-operative.
As the missing of the corporate chops and documents affected the
daily operation of the PRC Subsidiaries, the Company has engaged
legal advisers in the PRC to assist the Company to take appropriate
actions to repossess the full management control over the PRC
Subsidiaries as soon as practicable.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based
on the accounting books and records maintained by the Company
and its subsidiaries. In view of the circumstances as described in
the preceding paragraph, the Directors have been unable to obtain
the complete set of accounting books and records in respect of
certain of the Company’s PRC Subsidiaries (“these Subsidiaries”)
for the year ended 31 March 2011. Particularly, the names of these
Subsidiaries are set out below:

2.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #&Z=—Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2. WHEEE)
Limited access to accounting books and records ERIESETRE RCHE(E)
(Continued)
(1) Hainan Treasure Way Enterprises Limited (1) BEEREEABRAF
(2 BEERSASEEABRAQ A (Hanan Jiaying Internet @ BEERABEHERAT

Technology Company Limited*)

(3)  Suzhou C Y Foundation Entertainment and Investment Q) FMNPBEEFREKEETEERAT
Management Limited

(4)  CYC Investment Consultancy (Wuxi) Limited 4) FPEREBRES)ARAR
(6) BEREEFZHLEE)ABR A F (Longpin Investment (6) FEREEFZR(LG)ARAR

Consultancy (Shanghai) Company Limited®)

6) LE/EBEZM4%E AR A F (Shanghai Jufeng Internet 6) LEEELPEREHTERAR
Technology Company Limited*)

(7)) EBEEZKREEIRABRAF (Shanghai Jifeng Investment (7) LEEELKREEEBRAA
Management Company Limited®)

* The English names are for identification only

Due to the insufficiency of supporting documentation and ANERANIEREETN Y EEEEETEX
explanations, the Directors were unable to ascertain whether the B - MEMEt ARE B E SRR Bz EH
income, expenses, assets, liabilities and the related disclosure BARMEBZWA A  EEHBEREERE
notes relating to these Subsidiaries, as included in the consolidated WHEHTREERGA SRR P ISHELCESRIZ
financial statements of the Group as stated below, have been AR o

accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements:
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BE-Z——F=-A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Limited access to accounting books and records
(Continued)

i I 25 (4]

RIS EFHIRE R (H)

HK$°000
BET T
Income and expenses for BE-ZE——F=AZ=1+—-HLEE
the year ended 31 March 2011: ZWARBEX
Turnover e 8
Cost of sales THE A (29)
Other income HAbA 709
Administrative expenses THEERE (29,315)
Exchange losses TE H 518 (521)
Impairment of various assets BHEBEZRE (36,748)
Property, plant and equipment written off W - HEs R EE (6,410)
Loss for the year AEEEE (72,306)
HK$’000
BT
Assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2011: R-E-——F=A=+—-HZEERAE:
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERR 1,423

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for its
accounting year beginning on 1 April 2010. HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations. The adoption of these new
and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior
years except as stated below:
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #&Z=—Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. EAFIIRKEI>2EBHMER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING H2ERI ()
STANDARDS (Continued)

(a) Classification of land leases (@) THHEESE

Amendments to HKAS 17 “Leases” deleted the guidance in
HKAS 17 that when the land has an indefinite economic life,
the land element is normally classified as an operating lease
unless title is expected to pass to the lessee by the end of the
lease term.

The Group reclassifies a land lease as a finance lease if
the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership to the Group e.g. at the inception of
the lease the present value of the minimum lease payments
amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value of the
land.

Amendments to HKAS 17 has been applied retrospectively
and resulted in changes in the consolidated amounts
reported in these financial statements as follows:

HRERENEATR [HE] ZEFTMER
BREGHENETIR 2] - ZigslEH
BRIEPTAETRINE A R AT E =AM
A BRART 2 EBEFHAERE - +

WE D — RO BRARETES -

AE &S e A AR S 2 BAER D e K
BEZTASE(ARBERGE - &IE
HEFRRERI BRI R FEZBAB
) AIAEEG T HAEEHHHE AR
EHE -

EBGHRRE TR SRR
TERESHBRELRGASELR
oD -

At 31 March At 31 March At 1 April
2011 2010 2009
RZE-——-% \ZE-FF RZEENE
=A=1-H ZA=1+-H mA—A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BBTT BETT BT
Increase in property, WE BB RREEM
plant and equipment 23,158 71,873 72,925
Decrease in prepaid land BRtwleHE s
lease payments (28,158) (71,879 (72,925)

The retrospective application of the amendments to HKAS 17
has resulted in the restatement of items in the consolidated
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2010 and
1 April 2009. The related explanatory notes affected by
the amendments have been re-presented in these financial
statements to comply with the new requirements.

EPEMBBAGHERNEATREHEIR
—E-RF-A=T-HRZETNFN
A—RAZGEMBIRNBRIAR - ZIEFT
FEZARBRENEC NI BERERZS
ATFE#TIRGE ©
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b)

Changes in accounting policies

In November 2010 the HKICPA issued Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 “Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause” (the “Interpretation”). The
Interpretation is effective immediately and is a clarification
of an existing standard, HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements”. It sets out the conclusion reached by the
HKICPA that a term loan which contains a clause which gives
the lender the unconditional right to demand repayment at
any time shall be classified as a current liability in accordance
with paragraph 69(d) of HKAS 1 irrespective of the probability
that the lender will invoke the clause without cause.

In order to comply with the requirements of the Interpretation,
the Group has changed its accounting policy on the
classification of term loans that contain a repayment on
demand clause. Under the new requirement, term loans with
clauses which give the lender the unconditional right to call
the loan at any time are classified as current liabilities in the
statement of financial position. Previously such term loans
were classified in accordance with the agreed repayment
schedule unless the Group had breached any of the loan
covenants set out in the agreement as of the reporting date or
otherwise had reason to believe that the lender would invoke
its rights under the immediate repayment clause within the
foreseeable future.

The requirement of the Interpretation has been applied
retrospectively by re-presenting the comparative figures in
the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31
March 2010 and 1 April 2009. The reclassification has had no
effect on reported profit or loss, total comprehensive income
or equity for any period presented. The related term loans
have been presented in the earliest time band in the maturity
analysis for financial liabilities (see note 7(d))
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. EAFIIRKEI>2EBHMER

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Effect of the adoption of the Interpretation on the

HER (&)

(b) BRBEESE(E)

Rinz2BEERa BRI RROTEH

consolidated statement of financial position: HEAT
At 31 March At 31 March At 1 April
2011 2010 2009
R=Z2-—-F HZZT-TF RITTNF
=R=+—H ZA=1+-8 mA—A
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT BT

Reclassification of bank borrowings: ~ $F/TREREH H4E -

- Increase in current liabilities —nEE &EEMm 5,305 38,708 34,556
- Decrease in non-current liabilities ~ —3EREHEERL (5,305) (38,708) (34,556)

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised
HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these new
and revised HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and applicable disclosures required by
the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment
properties, investments and derivatives which are carried at their
fair values. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (‘HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.
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4.

BE-T——FA=+—ALFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It also
requires the Directors to exercise their judgements in the process
of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these financial statements are disclosed in note 5 to
these financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group has
control.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TEE:BE(E)

(Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date
fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.
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BE-T——FA=+—ALFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date
fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to
calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest in
the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive income
(for example, available-for-sale investment), the amount that was
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised on the
same basis as would be required if the previously held equity
interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses
of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)
Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policies of an entity but is not control
or joint control over those policies. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when there is
objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of
the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the
consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If
the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits
equals the share of losses not recognised.
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BE-T——FA=+—ALFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group’s share of
the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating
to that associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Foreign currency translation
(@) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group‘s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company's functional and presentation currency.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHE(E)
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

()

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(i)  Income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c)  Translation on consolidation (Continued)

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account of their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line method. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as
owned assets, or where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. The
principal annual rates are as follows:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TEE:BE(E)

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings

Y - WERRRE(GR)

Over the shorter of the term of the lease, or 50 years

Over the shorter of 20%-33% or over the remaining unexpired terms of the leases

MHE T R EF TEAVEABR 2k 50 & (REWE & /%)
Leasehold improvements
HEMERE 20%-33% S AH 4TI ER HARR (FREE & m2E)

19%-33%
19%-33%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
FiHh - RERPRERE

Plant and machinery 20%
NN = 20%
Gaming machines and systems 20%-33%
e SN e 20%-33%
Motor vehicles 10%-20%
P 10%-20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property is measured
initially at its cost including all direct costs attributable to the
property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its
fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the
investment property are recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment
property because its use has changed, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer
is recognised as a revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHE(E)
(Continued)

Leases

The Group as lessee

(@)

(b)

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as
finance leases. At the commencement of the lease term, a
finance lease is capitalised at the lower of the fair value of
the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
statement of financial position as finance lease payable.
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge
and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.

The Group as lessor

@

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets
(@) Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. License
has definite useful life and is amortised on straight-line basis
over fifty years. Software are amortised on a straight-line
basis over five years.

(b) Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair
values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible
assets is their fair value at the acquisition date

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of all production
overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially
measured at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs
except in the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHHE(E)
(Continued)

Investments (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity that the Group has the positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment losses.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the held-to-maturity investments
are impaired, and is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the investments and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition. Impairment
losses are reversed in subsequent periods and recognised
in profit or loss when an increase in the investments’
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to
the restriction that the carrying amount of the investments at
the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either
investments classified as held for trading or designated as
at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.
These investments are subsequently measured at fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of these
investments are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivate
contract date is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to
their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends
on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market and are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less allowance for impairment. An allowance for impairment of
trade and other receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount
of the allowance is the difference between the carrying amount
of the receivables and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition. The amount of the allowance is recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods and
recognised in profit or loss when an increase in the recoverable
amount of the receivables can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the
restriction that the carrying amount of the receivables at the date the
impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue
can be measured reliably.

(@)

Revenues from the sales of manufactured goods and trading
of raw materials are recognised on the transfer of significant
risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides
with the time when the goods are delivered and the title has
passed to the customers.

Services income is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Employee benefits

(@

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitiements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHE(E)
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(©

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a ceiling of monthly
relevant income of HK$20,000 and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
retirement scheme organised by the government in the PRC.
The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage of
the payroll of its employees to the retirement scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement
scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is without
realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees and business associates. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the
date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying
a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)
Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A party is related to the Group if:

directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the
party controls, is controlled by, or is under common control
with, the Group; has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or has joint control over
the Group;

the party is an associate;

the party is a joint venture;

the party is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting
power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any
individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related party
of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group‘s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of the Group's various lines of business
in different geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except goodwill,
investment properties, deferred tax assets, investments, inventories
and receivables to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Event after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when material.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The critical judgment, apart from those involving estimations (see
below), that the Directors have made in the process of applying
the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statement.

Held-to-maturity investment

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s held-to-maturity
investment in the light of its capital maintenance and liquidity
requirements and have confirmed the Group’s positive intention
and ability to hold this asset to maturity. The carrying amount of
the held-to-maturity investment was approximately HK$2,000,000
(2010: HK$2,000,000). Details of this asset are set out in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(@) Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the end of the reporting
period at their fair value of approximately HK$110,937,000
(2010: HK$62,876,000). The fair value was based on a
valuation on these properties conducted by an independent
firm of professional valuers using property valuation
techniques which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of
the Group’s investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
consolidated profit or loss.

(b)  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
amortisation of intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated and intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account of their
estimated residual values. The determination of the useful
lives and residual values involve management’s estimation.
The Group assesses annually the residual value and the
useful life of the property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets and if the expectation differs from the original
estimates, such a difference may impact the depreciation and
amortisation in the year and the estimate will be changed in
the future period.

5. EXEFHERMEFTTHBEER
ZEERR (&)

R TRAMER 2 TR RR(F)
@ REVERZLFE

LB MR N F{EH) 110,937,000 T( =
T4 162,876,000 70) RREHR 2
AT ERPIIE - ZAFEIRE
B BET G RAIUADELELEZSE
T2 IMERE BRSPS RETHRAR
= BEZEMNS T ESHSRELAER
BEMEZ N EBHERABERATRIE
VEABPEAEE o

b) Y% HEERRETERETEEY

Y BERRBINERBTVEEZ#
HIREETRG A ERAFRERFAREZ
BT RIRBEERIABRERITE - AlE
RERENGEEZEES RERE 2 fh
it REBEESFIHEYME - B LRE
IREBVEEZ RSBEBERATERER
A ERAER TR - AIZEEEAE
FEFANITE R - BRI
AR L o



5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)  Write-off and impairment loss recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment

The impairment loss for and write-off of property, plant
and equipment are recognised for the amounts by which
the carrying amounts exceed their recoverable amounts,
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The
recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment have
been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates such as the future
revenue and discount rates. No impairment was provided for
both years. During the year, property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$10,220,000 (2010: HK$11,118,000) was
written off.

(d) Impairment loss recognised in respect of intangible
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group performs tests
on whether there has been impairment of intangible assets
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 4
to the consolidated financial statements. The recoverable
amounts of intangible assets are determined based on
value in-use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates and assumptions made by management
on the future operation of the business, pre-tax discount
rates, and other assumptions underlying the value-in use
calculations. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
value of intangible assets was approximately HK$333,000
(2010: HK$19,580,000) (net of accumulated amortisation
and impairment loss of approximately HK$38,207,000 (2010:
HK$17,027,000).
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(e)  Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. At the end of the
reporting period, the carrying amounts of goodwill was
approximately HK$55,931,000 (2010: HK$101,280,000),
net of accumulated impairment loss of approximately
HK$51,485,000 (2010: HK$5,885,000). Details of
impairment testing on goodwill are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

() Impairment loss recognised in respect of interests in
associates

Interests in associates are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Value-in-use calculations
are used for assessing the recoverable amount of these
interests. These calculations require use of judgments and
estimates.

Management judgment is required for assessing impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred
that may indicate that the related carrying value of interests
may not be recoverable; and (i) whether the carrying value of
the interests can be supported by the recoverable amount.
Changing the estimations used by management in assessing
impairment could materially affect the recoverable amount
used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
consolidated financial position and results of operations.
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying value of
interests in associates was HK$nil (2010: HK$25,033,000)
(net of accumulated impairment loss of approximately
HK$12,915,000 (2010: HK$4,004,000).
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(9)  Fair value of convertible note receivables

Convertible note receivables were carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the end of the reporting
period at their estimated fair value of approximately
HKS$nil (2010: HK$61,612,000). As described in note 21
to the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
use their judgment in selecting an appropriate valuation
technique for financial instruments not quoted in an active
market. Valuation techniques commonly used by market
practitioners are applied taking into the consideration of
the expected recoverability of the future cash inflow from
the note receivables. The estimation of fair value of unlisted
convertible notes receivable includes some assumptions not
supported by observable market prices or rates. Favourable
or unfavourable changes to these assumptions would result
in changes in the fair value of the Group’s convertible note
receivables and corresponding adjustments to the amount of
gain or loss reported in the consolidated profit or loss.

(h) Impairment loss recognised in respect of other
receivables, deposits and prepayments

The policy for provision of impairment loss of deposits
and other receivables of the Group is determined by the
management based on the evaluation of collectability and
aging analysis of accounts and management’s judgment. A
considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each deposits and receivables. At
the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of other
receivables, deposits, and prepayments were approximately
HK$10,557,000 (2010: HK$34,659,000) (net of accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$54,095,000 (2010:
HK$23,352,000).
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consist of debt which includes
finance lease payables as disclosed in note 30, bank borrowings
as disclosed in note 31, pledged and unpledged bank and cash
balances as disclosed in note 27 and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. The
Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part
of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the
associated risks, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s
capital structure. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior periods.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, convertible note receivables at fair value through
profit or loss, amount due from a related party, derivative financial
instruments, held-to-maturity investment, pledged bank deposits,
bank and cash balances, trade and other payables, amounts due to
directors and related companies, finance lease payables and bank
borrowings are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(@) Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
a currency that is not the functional currencies of the Group
entities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group’s entities operating in the PRC have minimal
exposures to foreign currency risk as most of their business
transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”), the functional currencies of those
entities. The turnover of the Group’s PRC entities are
substantially denominated in RMB. As the trade receivable
and payables the Group’s PRC entities are denominated
in RMB, the Directors do not expect that there will be any
significant currency risk associated with them. The foreign
currency risk exposure of the PRC entities arising from
business transactions was insignificant.

The Group’s Hong Kong entities trade with international
customers and are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the
United States dollars (‘US$”), EURO (“EUR”), Great Britain
pounds (“GBP”), Australian dollars (“AUD”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”).

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2010: 5%) increase and decrease in US$, EUR, GBP, AUD
and RMB against HK$. 5% (2010: 5%) is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2010: 5%) change in foreign currency rates with all other
variables held constant. A positive/(negative) number below
indicates a decrease/(increase) in loss for the year where
US$, EUR, GBP, AUD and RMB strengthen/weakened 5%
(2010: 5%) against HK$.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. SREREEEERBEKGE)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (a) IMEEmEBR (&)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) RS T ()

For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=+—HLEE

2011 2010
—E——F —E—TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
HK$ strengthened against: BILHATESHE :
EUR BT (813) (1,042)
RMB ARE 331 (63)
AUD BT (122) (1,250)
uss$ T (128) 877)
GBP R (59) (117)
(Increase)/decrease in loss FEEBOEM S
for the year: Vo (791) (3,349)
This is mainly attributable to the exposure on outstanding WEBEREEFBERAET BT - I
derivative financial instruments, trade and other receivables, - RTRAREFEZRITESTET
bank and cash balances, trade and other payables B -BHNEMEWR - RITNRESE
denominated in US$, EUR, GBP, AUD and RMB at the end of HEBESREMEMNTRBREHRARZR

the reporting period. & o
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

7. TREAREEBRERBK(E)

(b) Interest rate risk (b) FIER

The interest income is derived from the Group’s current and
short-term time deposits that carry interest at the respective
banking deposit rate of the banks located in the PRC and
Hong Kong.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to its fixed-rate convertible note receivables and finance
lease payables (see notes 21 and 30 for details). The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider other necessary actions when significant interest
rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk,
primarily in relation to its variable-rate bank deposits (see note
27 for details) and bank borrowings (see note 31 for details).
It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate
of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s bank deposits are short-term in nature and the
exposure of the interest rate risk is minimal and no sensitivity
to interest rate risk is presented.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities
is detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of base lending rate
published by the People’s Bank of China and the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

At the end of the reporting period, it is estimated that a
general 100 basis point (2010: 100 basis point) increase
or decrease in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase or decrease the Group’s loss for
the year ended and accumulated losses by approximately
HK$62,000 (2010: HK$378,000).

The above sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that a change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to
interest rate risk for financial instruments in existence at that
date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change
in interest rates over the period until the next reporting period.
The analysis was performed on the same basis for the year
ended 31 March 2010.

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end
of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks in Hong Kong with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies and
authorised banks in the PRC with high credit ratings.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 26% and 74%
(2010: 14% and 63%) of the total trade receivables due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively.

The credit risk on held-to-maturity investment is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management will closely monitor the cash
flows generated from operations and the Group’s needs
for different types of external financing and will negotiate
for proper facilities and consider proper means of equity
financing as appropriate.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve
at the end of the reporting period.
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7. TREAREEBRERBK(E)

(c)

(d)

FERR(E)

MR R HBH REBREETREES T
SIEER R BB RMRITREGEERT
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REBBEESETRBRKE D RIE 26% K&
74% (ZZ—TF : 14% 2 63%) 2 B 5 E
WER KBTI D RIE R B A EERARF
RAKEFE »
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REBE SRk
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EREBRBFE KT - BEEESEYE
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TRBEIMNIREZFRR  UREEEE
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. SREREEEENEE(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d REELRMRS(E)
At 31 March 2011
R-Z--%£=F=1+-H
More than ~ More than Total
On demand oneyear  twoyears fag
or within less than lessthan ~ More than Undiscounted Carrying
oneyear  two years fiveyears  fiveyears  cash flows amount
REXS  EB-F BBMF KBRS

R-FR SRWE  SREE BBIE HeRE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AMTn  EMTn  EMTx  BRTx  BRTn  B%Tn

Trade and other payables BHREMERNR 37,585 - - - 37,585 37,585
Derivative financial instruments fTEEBTA 46 - - - 46 46
Bank borrowings RfEE 6,730 - - - 6,730 6,180

44,361 - - - 44,361 43811

At 31 March 2010
R=Z-2F=f=1+-AH

More than More than Total
On demand oneyear  twoyears oE
or within less than less than More than  Undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years five years cash flows amount
RENE Bh—E RmE FERRS

R—FR CINIES YREF el ohika Eeng FHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTL BETT  BMTR BT B¥Tn BT

Trade and other payables EHRABERT 30,085 - - - 30,085 30,085
Due to directors EREZ R 39 - - - 39 39
Due to related companies ERBERR B 15 - - - 15 15
Finance lease payables BERNENTE 412 69 - - 481 414
Bank borrowings, as restated BITRE - LE 48,521 - - - 48,521 43556

79,022 69 - - 79,091 74,059
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. SRIEREEBENREE(E)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d REELRMRS(E)
The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of a TREDIM A A ME ERERZ GERORT
bank borrowing with a repayment on demand clause based EERBEE RS 2 T BREEX
on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the borrowing TEH 2 BIEAD T - ZEEIALE 2 B HiR
agreement. Taking into account the Group’s financial N BRUTRBIJITHITERSE B
position, the Directors do not consider that it is probable that KAZBMERR - EFERE - ZIRITERBIE
the bank will exercise its discretion to demand immediate RRIGFIPRPIE 2 B E R K E HAER -

repayment. The Directors believe that such bank loan will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the borrowing agreement.

Maturity analysis - Bank borrowings subject to
a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

HEAN - REHEER RS ER WA AR RERRANBTHE

Morethan ~ More than Total
On demand oneyear  two years okl
or within less than lessthan ~ More than Undiscounted Carrying
oneyear  two years five years five years  cash flows amount
RERY BBE-F HEEWF RERRS

R-Fn SRWE LREFE BBEF RERE fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BET R BETT BRI

31 March 2011 ZE——%=A=1-H 1,026 1,026 3,078 1,600 6,730 6,180

31 March 2010 ZZ-T¥=A=t-H 5,787 5,735 15,885 21,114 48,521 43,556
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. SRRABREEEERBK(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Categories of financial instruments () &MIEDE
At 31 March At 31 March
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
=A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets: SREE !
Financial assets at fair AT ERTABZREZ
value through profit or loss EREE
- Designated as such upon — R AIIE SR R
initial recognition Ei=ha - 61,612
— Held for trading —FHERZ S - 1,342
Held-to-maturity investment FEZIHBEERE 2,000 2,000
Loans and receivables (including &3k & fE UL 5118
bank and cash balances) (BRERITERER) 72,857 184,864
74,857 249,818
Financial liabilities: SRIBE:
Financial liabilities at fair AR FER ABR
value through profit or loss ZEmMAaE
— Held for trading —FHERZ S 46 -
Financial liabilities at amortised ~ ¥&# $4A Z4<
costs TRAE 38,443 69,848
38,489 69,848
()  Fair value n 2DFE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and ERA SRR R TSI AN A BB S A E M B
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement HEAEZEEHERESEAFEEBERSE

of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

The following disclosures of fair value measurements use a IUTHBEUAFEISEAERAFE S 5

fair value hierarchy which has 3 levels: H=ESRGE

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for FA1 . RERMSER-—WEENXBE
identical assets or liabilities. B ERCRETHE) -

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Fal2 . WARTBEERRFHEE
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or ENRNEERBRECEE
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (BB ) ks (BMERLTAE)
(i.e. derived from prices). BE -

Level 3. inputs for the asset or liability that are not based FAIB . BALEBRBEEIRNMS
on observable market data (unobservable v EESBBFEEED

inputs). REAN) -
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. SRRABREEEERBK(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
() Fair value (Continued) n AFEGE)
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at the end of the RBERR - A PESFRENT :

reporting period:

At 31 March 2011
R-—ZB——F=H=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& BoR E=MK ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T BT T

Derivative financial instruments #7448 T & - (46) = (46)

At 31 March 2010
RZE—ZTF=A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B B E= A

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BT BT

Derivative financial instruments ~ $T4 &R T & - 1,342 - 1,342
Convertible note receivables at  #EiBEHE A FETEZ
fair value through profit or loss A #2% 2= {5 FE UL R -

61,612 61,612

- 1,342 61,612 62,954
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. *REBREERERBKR(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
() Fair value (Continued) n AFEGE)
The reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurements of EMEEZFE R AVEFEZHEDN
financial assets is as follows: L
2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At 1 April R A—H 61,612 24,491
Exchange realignment I 3, F8 B = 7
Purchases EE - 34,878
Settlements 5 - (3,876)
Total fair value changes recognised R 4RA 1B HER
in consolidated profit or loss N EZE R (61,612) 6,042
At 31 March \=A=+—H - 61,612
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the RAFEE  E—REE _HK o HIEE
year. B o
Included in the consolidated profit or loss is a loss of RBEHER HBEEERERED
HK$1,388,000 (2010: a gain of HK$1,342,000) which relates HTESHMIARATELYER 28
to the change in fair value of the derivate financial instruments 1,388,000 m( ZF — T F: Y=
at the end of the reporting period. 1,342,000%7L) °
8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. 7HPEHR
For management purpose, the Group has three operating and MEEMS AEEAUATZEARERITZ2HS
reportable segments as follows: b
Digital entertainment - Provision of internet café licenses, SRS IR LA TS TRILAEIE AR « 4845 1250 AR
business online game tournament services R ABIEIREET &
and online entertainment platforms.
Packaging products - Manufacture and sale of packaging BEERER - ZENHEEEEES
business products.
Watch business - Trading of watches R ET - EH%RE"

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that REEZ ] 2WH EHRETRERERRSE 2R

offer different products and services. They are managed separately BE SN - WASEEEE SRR RS
because each business requires different technology and marketing EEREMEREE - Ly EHRERER
strategies. Information regarding the above segment is reported U

below.



Segment revenue and results

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable segment:

8.
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7 EEFR ()
(a) D EBUREE R

TRARKERZ2HD B2 REREED

#r

For the year ended 31 March

BZ=A=1-AL%E
Digital entertainment ~ Packaging products Watch Consolidated
business business business total
UBRBER BEERER BRER e
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“E2--F -5-%F ZB--f “Z-%F ZB--f “2-TF ZB--f -“2-3F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKSO00  HK$000  HK$'000
BBTT ERTn  BETn  A¥Tr  A¥Tn A%t B¥Tn TR
TURNOVER: EXE:
Revenue from external customers RANBEE I 1,063 2,631 143348 103,857 664 10,661 145,075 117,149
RESULTS: ES
Segment profi/oss) AHEHER) (90208)  (77609)  (25644) 8211  (109%) 1577 (126782  (67,821)
Interest income: IS 2,779 2,957
Change in fair valug of fEERIEATE
derivative financial instruments® 228" (1,388) 1342
Change in fair value of RENELTE
investment properties L8 3,080 13035
Change in fair value of RREERMG
convertiole notes recelvables NIEZES (61,612) 6,042
Exchange gain 306 1521 12,751
(Loss)/gain on disposal derivative WETESRTA
financial instruments* Z(BR)/ W (1,557) 739
Gain on disposal of HERBA
subsidiaries e - 1624
Impairment of other receivables Rt M 2 E - (3,000)
Impaiment of interests in associates ~ REFE N2 ER 2 HE (12915 (4,004
Impairment of loans to non- m-EHEARZ
controling shareholders of FERREREL
a subsidlary EFZRE 2133 (4,197
Reversal of impaiment loss Ltz
on other receivables REEEEE 581 5,330
Waiver of other payables e AR 1,092 1,168
Share of results of associates PMEBERR EE (12,118) 35
Unallocated income FARMA 19,652 7,601
Unallocated corporate expenses FARLART (136,022)  (52,109)
Finance costs BBER 989 (1,610
Loss before tax BHAER (293811)  (80,117)
* These items were included in other income or administrative * ZEIEE BREEEMMBRASKITERASIRA ©

expenses.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

There are no sales between the reportable segments for both
years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment
profit/(loss) represents the profit or loss of each segment
without allocation of interest income, change in fair value
of derivative financial instruments, change in fair value of
investment properties, change in fair value of convertible
note receivables, exchange gain, (loss)/gain on disposal
of derivative financial instruments, gain on disposal of
subsidiaries, impairment loss recognised in respect of
other receivables, impairment loss recognised in respect
of investments in associates, impairment loss recognised
in respect of loans to non-controlling shareholders of a
subsidiary, reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect
of other receivables, waiver of other payables, share of results
of associates, centralised administrative expenses, Directors’
remunerations, finance costs and income tax expense. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
of the Group for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

8.

7 RPE R ()

(a)

P L eI E S {E )

E-F-—ER-F-EFZA=T -
ALEEFRE - 725 BT -

AE2R7 e BRELRA M B REM
AT REBE SRR B o 2B
A,/ (BR)REES 2B - EFISWK
A TTEEZRTARTEZED REY
ERHEZ2E - ATHEREERRUGRAF
BE28% EXWE HETEERTA
2 (B8 Mas - HEMHBAR s -
MEAEUCRIER 2 BERE - SARE S
RAZRERERZRERE - SR —FH
&R RIBEER BRI 2 B R 2R E
E1E B E A R OGR R R BB 1R
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(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b)

THEEREE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and TR ERBERI2HY ATz A EBEE

liabilities by reportable segment: LafE:
At 31 March
R=A=t+-H
Digital entertainment ~ Packaging products Watch Consolidated
business business business total
BERALEE BEERER BHRER SRl
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
—g--% -T-%F Z3--f -%-%F -B--% -T-%F ZB--F -T-TF
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKSO000  HK$000  HK$000
BBTT ERTn  BETn  A¥Tr  A%Tn Akt B¥Tn TR
ASSETS: BE:
Seqment assefs ABEE 136283 98596 127,793 150,114 815 4116 264801  261,8%
Interests in associates e NFER - 2508
Convertible note receivables at FREREATEIE
fair value through proftt or loss L TARZBREN - B1p12
Derivative financial instruments iTEERIA - 1,342
Due from a related party FEWEERTE 1,185 20
Held-to-maturity investment BAZIERRA 2,000 2,000
Current tax assets RENEEE 205 214
Pledged bank deposits BERROEN 2428 22050
Bank and cash balances FORALES 36,638 105462
Unallocated corporate assets FORLEERE 8492 147477
Total assets EE8E 315929 627,036
LIABILITIES: af:
Segment liabilities AHEE 4177 4,329 17,904 15,390 1,287 2,130 23,318 22,449
Derivative financial instruments ITESRTIA 46 -
Due to directors ENEZHE - 39
Due to related companies ENEELE - 15
Finance lease payables RERNERTE - 414
Bank borrowings BiTIRE 6,180 43556
Deferred tax liabilties BHEEE 14,929 3,800
Unallocated corporate liablties APELERE 14,267 7,586
Total liabilities ffEaE 58740 77,868
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. DIEFR(E)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) b) FHBEEREE(E)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MERSAR[ESLEERSEMS -

(c)

allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments
other than interests in associates, convertible note
receivables at fair value through profit or loss, derivative
financial instruments, amount due from a related
party, held-to-maturity investment, current tax assets,
pledged bank deposits, and bank and cash balances;
and

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other

BBt e N AR BREBHRERAY
AR TR RERREAK - $74£
TERTAE  BREESFE K
ERHNERE  RBMNEEE B
ERRITEFARBITRA S EH
S FTABEERAZ2WO MO &

- BENEZEREEQRNE  BE

than amounts due to directors and related companies, FAOERTUE - B1TEE - REH
finance lease payables, bank borrowings, current tax HEELELERIBAGEIN  FAIEE

liabilities and deferred tax liabilities.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by
geographical location of revenue from external customers is
detailed below:

(c)

BRI 2RO MO °

REEZ RBREWHREBRBE -

BIMBEP WA Z BB DT 2 A EE

KEIBEP ZWALT
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. DIEFR(E)
(c) Geographical information (Continued) (c) HEER

Turnover by geographical market RWEMBE D 2 EEE
2011 2010
—=E——fF —T-ZTF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Brazil B 5,873 -
Canada meEx 1,183 906
The PRC (excluding HK) AL (B7ERRIN) 4,207 4,166
England B 12,436 9,458
Germany =k 48,917 42,495
Hong Kong B 24,667 27,995
ltaly =Vl 16,223 17,276
Singapore N 9,365 917
United States of America ESE 8,880 3,168
Other countries HABzR 13,324 10,768
145,075 117,149

The Group’s non-current assets, other than financial
instruments, by geographical location are detailed below:

AEBERBESBZIFRDEE(T R

ERMTR)FIAT

2011 2010

—=E——fF —E-TF

HK’000 HK’000

BT T BT

(Restated)

(fe&%)

The PRC a8 140,118 149,303
Hong Kong B 70,140 72,976
210,258 222,279

Revenue from two (2010: one) customer(s) of the Group’s
packaging products business segment contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group represents
approximately HK$47,893,000 (2010: HK$31,681,000) of
the Group’s total revenue.

REAREBEBEEMESD B2 WABR
RNEBMBWAI0B A LZREZEF(ZE
—TF - —F) 2 WA A 47,893,000 7T
(ZZ—Z 4 : 31,681,000/87T) °
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. DEPER(E)
(d) Other segment information (d) HfbppER
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or HESIAEXE B D B ERET AR
segment assets: B

For the year ended 31 March

BE=A=t-ALEE
Digital entertainment  Packaging products Watch Consolidated
business business business Unallocated total
HERAER AEERER ERER N Gaft

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
SS-F | TT-FF 28—F “T-TF|23—F “T-TF|22-F “T-RE[CR-F CR-%f
HK$000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK§000 HKS000  HK$000 HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000
AETn A%Tn E8Tn Rt BRTn ETR BMTm B¥TR EMTR AETx

Addition to non-current assets TEHRDAE 11,384 3918 3318 582 - - - BETT 14647 30171
Amortisation of infangiole assets ~ EEAEEH 2005 1788 - - - - - - 205 1788
Depreciation of property, plant nE - EER

and equipment REE 40 T2 2819 298 - 18 3M5 400 1121 14809
Impaiment of goodil HELWE - 588 45349 - - - - - 45349 5868
Impairment of intangble assets BVEELHE 18,083 13,954 - - - - - - 18088 13954
Impairment of inventories HERE 467 - - - 879 - - - 9262 -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property,  HENE  KRRRE

plant and equipment %) /B (18,215) 568 (673) - - - - - (18949 568
Property, plant and equipment 0% BER

written off RiEHH 6,223 11,049 89 69 - - 3,908 - 10220 11,118

Inventories written off ek - - 119 114 - - - - 119 114
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9. TURNOVER AND OTHER INCOME 9. EXBRHEMKA

Turnover represents net amounts received and receivable for EETEIEAEE DR NE TINBERE 2 IR &
services provided and goods sold by the Group to outside Bz B N G IEFESE - HIBRITII M EE
customers, less discounts and sales related taxes. SRR o

REBZAFREEEXBEINWT

An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year is as follows:

2011 2010
—E——F —T-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BB TFT
Turnover: =
Digital entertainment business HMGIREE TS 1,063 2,631
Manufacture and sale of BIERIHE
packaging products BEED 143,348 103,857
Trading of watches EERE S 664 10,661
145,075 117,149
Other income: Hig A -
Change in fair value of THESRIA
derivative financial instruments 2 NHEEE - 1,342
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR 2 W - 1,624
Gain on disposal of derivative HETESRMTIA
financial instruments & - 739
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEMEE
and equipment pdl & 18,948 -
Interest income FEKA 2,779 2,957
Reversal of impairment loss on HA Rz
other receivables DERET R e 581 5,330
Rental income (note) AW A M) 6,252 5,748
Sundry income HEBA 705 1,853
Waliver of other payables A H MR 1,092 1,168
30,357 20,761
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Note to rental income: U AMGE -
Gross rental income el Az 6,252 5,748
Less: outgoings W X (831) (784)
Net rental income Hel A ¥ 5,421 4,964
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10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BBEER
2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BB TFT
Interest expenses on borrowings wholly — ZBRAFREEHEE
repayable within five years: ZEEZFERAX
- Bank borrowings —iRITIEE 924 1,497
- Imputed interest on — AR ERER
convertible loan notes ZERERE - 56
— Finance lease payables — BB ENFIE 65 57
989 1,610
11. INCOME TAX 1. FrEH
2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong Profits Tax: EBMEM -
— current — 7N Hf 714 665
— (over)/under-provision — R (H5E) TR (246) 239
468 904
PRC Enterprise Income Tax — current REIZEFTISH — A HA 6 16
Deferred tax (note 32): RIERIA (P71 32) - 10,075 2,509
10,549 3,429
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated BE-_T—FR-FT-ZTF=-A=1+—HLHF
assessable profit for the year ended 31 March 2011 and 2010. Tax B BENERDIRG RN 2 16.5% 5t
arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in B REMBEEARREE CRIBIRSE B Al EE
the respective jurisdictions. Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise &2 IBITHEE - RIEBFRECEMSEIE( D
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EFTERUED) RIBEMEBUEEMIEN - NAF
EIT Law, the tax rate of subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC is MURPEZHBARZHERZMEFES A

25% for both years. 25% °



1. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax for the year and the loss

TEEEEERRAT —F-

E-—FEEHE

Year ended 31 March 2011 #&Z=—T——F=A=1+—HILFE

11. B (&)

REFEFSTHERTATEIERATBNEREZ

before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong profits tax rate is as follows: FRZHEENAT :
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Loss before tax: BREiAIEE (293,811) (80,117)
Tax at the domestic income tax BAHATEHE®E16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) ( T—FF : 16.5%) (48,479) (13,219)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R Efth B EAE R AR L
operating in other jurisdictions 2B RARHENR 22 (3,875) (2,136)
(Oven)/under-provision of tax in prior years ~ AEEE ST (B5E) /T2 (246) 239
Tax effect of income not taxable BAERMM MG E (6,158) 38,772)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TRAIRA Y 2 2 62,737 16,244
Tax effect of deductible temporary REER AT i =58
differences not recognised LIS E - 5,779
Tax effect of taxes losses not RIERTIEE B
recognised R E 6,570 1,956
Utilisation of tax losses previously SR ARERILIAEIE 2 8 A
not recognised - (830)
Utilisation of other deductible temporary SRR EL fth BT HIAL
difference not recognised FF AR B A - (1,332)
Tax at the Group’s effective rate BASBEBRHEGTE 2RI 10,549 3,429
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12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. XFEEEE

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):

AEEAFEBEDHR, (EE) TEE :

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 89,793 70,831
Inventories written off TFEMEE (Gt ASEERA)
(included in cost of sales) 119 114
Depreciation of property, Y% - BEREEITE
plant and equipment 11,227 14,809
Amortisation of intangible assets | EERE 2,025 1,788
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME - HEKEE
plant and equipment 2 (Was),/Eia (18,948) 568
Property, plant and equipment YIE - B KRR AR
written off 10,220 11,118
Operating lease rentals in respect T REFLEHERS
of land and buildings 9,545 10,900
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S5 2 B
- Current year —RFE 1,013 1,701
— Under-provision in prior years —UAFERETE - 85
Staff costs (including Directors’ BIRA
remuneration — note 13): (BIEESME —KIFE13) -
Salaries, allowances and other e R LREMEYET
benefits in kind 69,846 65,294
Equity-settled share-based payment  DAREZS 2 5 2 B tn B 451+ 134 65
Pension scheme contributions RRIEFFTEI 3R 1,634 1,648
Total staff costs 8T A A% 71,614 67,007
Provision against various assets: HEEEERBRE
Impairment of intangible assets BEEERE 18,063 13,954
Impairment of goodwill EEEAE] 45,349 5,868
Impairment of interests in associates BN A 2 xS 2 E(E 12,915 4,004
Impairment of inventories FERE 9,262 -
Impairment of other receivables, HAtbEUGRIA
deposits and prepayments e RIENFIERE 51,677 3,000
Impairment of deposit paid Wi -~ BRE Ma&
for acquisition of property, iR 2 RE
plant and equipment 24,612 -
Impairment of loans to non-controlling B B 2 &1 3FH A% A% 5
shareholders of a subsidiary EFORE 2,133 4,197
Total impairment of various assets BEEEZRERE 164,011 31,023
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Year ended 31 March 2011 #&Z=—T——F=A=1+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EERSHNEEAEE M
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=FHM

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-Z——5=A=t-ALFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
benefits contributions Total
Fees H&  EHR RIKEF emoluments
weE  HAEN  GrEfR FMEE
Notes HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000
s BT A%tz BT BE¥Tn

Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Cheng A 0] 400 1,300 12 1,712
Mr. Woelm Samuel Woelm Samuel 5t 4 (i - 1,526 12 1,538
Mr. Wu Chuang John (*Mr. Wu) RAEE(TREE]) (i) 360 400 7 767
Mr. Cao Dongxin ERILE (i) 400 - - 400
Mr. Ho Chi Chung Joseph EREE (i) 274 2,000 12 2,286
Mr. Hu Xichang G RE (i) 200 - - 200
Mr. Yu Ping it (i) 200 - - 200
Mr. Zhang Yiwei RRELE (i) 200 - - 200
Mr. Tang Ming EREE (i) 274 653 - 927
Mr. Sneah Kar Loon ERBAE () - - - -
Dato Lim Kim Wah (also known Lim Kim Wah &%

as Dato Lim Sze Guan) (Fl&Lim Sze Guan&&) () - - - -

Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. lo Rudy Cheok Kei e EEE () = = = =
Mr. Ng Kwok Lun REMmEE () - - - -

Independent non-executive directors: BYFHITES :
Mr. Wang Shanchuan T4 (i) 400 - - 400
Mr. Ng Pui Lung SEREEE i) 274 - - 274
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung Eugene IEEREEE (iv) 232 - - 232
Mr. Lai Hock Meng TBERLAE () - - - -
Mr. Law Chiu William EHEE () - - - -
Dato Myhre Carl Gunnar Myhre Carl Gunnar £ ) - - - -
Mr. Balakrishnan Narayanan Balakrishnan Narayanan %t (v) - - - -
Mr. Yong Peng Tak BTELE ) - - - -

3,214 5,879 43 9,136
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EENSHNEBAEEM(E)
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EZHME)
For the year ended 31 March 2010

BE-T-TF=A=t-BLEE
Salaries,  Retirement

allowances benefits
and other scheme
benefits  contributions Total

Fees ¥4 - ZR BAKEFR  emoluments
e EMER FEEER HBAH
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mg BT AETr  BETr B%ETR

Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Cheng A 0] 200 1,300 12 1,512
Mr. Poh Pol Lian (“Mr. Poh”) BEREE(HLE]) (vi) - - -
Mr. Woelm Samuel Woelm Samuel %4 (i 1,800 12 1,812
Mr. Wu RE&E (i) 200 445 - 645
Mr. Cao Dongxin ERILE (i) 200 - - 200
Mr. Ho Chi Chung Joseph AEREE (vil) 75 484 12 571
Mr. Hu Xichang HHELE (vi) 75 83 - 158
Mr. Yu Ping BEEE (vil) 75 192 - 267
Mr. Zhang Yiwei RRELE (vil) 75 205 - 280
Mr. Tang Ming ERLE (vii) 75 221 - 296

Non-executive directors: FYTES:
Mr. Poh BEE (vi) 62 - 12 74
Mr. Sik Siu Kwan Bkt (vi) 42 - - 42

Independent non-executive directors: BYFHITES :
Mr. Sze Tsai Ping Michael FPEYLE (ix) 119 - - 119
Mr. Wang Shanchuan TultE 200 - - 200
Mr. Chow Steven BEXEE (x) 145 - - 145
Mr. Ng Pui Lung RERLE (vi) 75 - - 75
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung Eugene SRR (i) 32 - - 32

1,650 4,730 48 6,428




13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

0] Suspended authorities and duties as a director and all other
position in the Group with effect from 8 April 2011

(ii) Re-designated from executive director to non-executive director
on 15 July 2011

(iii) Re-election as a director voted down on 6 April 2011

(iv) Did not offer himself for re-election as a director on 6 April 2011

(v) Appointed as a director on 6 April 2011

(Vi) Re-designated from executive director to non-executive director
on 28 April 2009, and resigned on 22 July 2009

(vii) Appointed as a director on 16 November 2009

(vii)  Appointed as a director on 1 September 2009, resigned as a
director on 16 November 2009

(ix) Resigned as a director on 3 November 2009

() Resigned as a director on 21 December 2009

(xi) Appointed as a director on 1 February 2010

Senior management’s emoluments

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, three (2010:
three) were Directors whose emoluments are set out in the
above. For the year ended 31 March 2011, the remaining
two (2010: two) senior management’s emoluments of the

MEEEREARAT —B-TF - —FEEHE

Year ended 31 March 2011 &#&=—ZT——F=A=1+—HILFE

13. EENSREEBASHM(E)

(a)

(b)

ESHM(E)

(vii)

(viil

BRE

BT —FMANAREEEAEER
EERATEEAMBA 2 B E
RZE——FtATABARTERAL
RIERITES

R ——FHANAREAREEAES
REZTE——FNARNATESEELA
5%
R-Z——FNAANBEZTAES
RoBTAENA -+ N\BhRRTESH
FERIFHTES UR_TZTNFLA
—t+—HEHE

RZTENF+—A+ BEZEARESE
RZBThENA-BEZTAEE I
ZETNF+ AT BREES
TTNGF+—A=HBEES
ZhE+ZRA=+—HBHIES
T-THE_A—AEZTARES

[
]
A

A

S
S
S
S

BHEHFE

ARERESBHEMALBE=4(=F
—TEZR)EF - HMSHEHIA L
X ARAHE=T-——£=A=t+—H
IFFEABTE(CE-TF WA BR

Company were as follows: EEEZMET
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Salaries, allowances and e R R

other benefits in kind HibEYE R 6,378 3,510
Retirement benefits scheme contributions ~ iEKE 5T 21t 5% 48 24

6,426 3,534
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BE-Z——F=-A=+—HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

13. EENSREEBASHM(E)

Senior management’s emoluments (Continued) (b) SREEEFS(E)
Their emoluments fall within the following bands: AT 4ERI 2 B
Number of employees
EE"A
2011 2010
—E2——F —E—TF
HK$nil — HK$1,000,000 07T 2 1,000,000 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 & 7T2 2,500,000 7% 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 /& 72 3,000,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7 T2 5,000,000 7 7T 1 -
2 2
No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the Directors (c) == FrR-_ZT—ZTF=F=1+—
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or HIEMEFER  NEBREREZESKA
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office HZRETHMALTZNERMNE  (ERES
during the two years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010. PNER 7RSS [ S N B A 2 AR S AR R BR AL
ZHEME o
14. BE

14. DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
each of the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

15. LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of the loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$302,972,000 (2010: HK$78,594,000) and the weighted
average number of 6,968,711,000 (2010: 6,427,998,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

No diluted loss per share is presented as there were no
potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for both years.

REE-Z-THER-_FT——F=A=1+—HLk
FEEF  EFWEEHRMNTMARE

15. BREE

(a)

(b)

BREFER

BREASEBRBERAREE ARML
&5 18 £9302,972,000/8 L =& —E F :
78,594,000/ 7C) - MK FARBEETEE
2 N#E 19 816,968,711,000 f% (=& —
T 6,427,998,000 f%)EHE -

BREEER

RZMEE » EARITEE
B SRS SREEEE

HgEm



16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

PEEEEERRAT

Year ended 31 March 2011

HE-ZT——F=A=+—HILFE

16. REYE

2011 2010
—E——F —ET-EF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BET T BT
At 1 April RIUA—H 62,876 49,494
Exchange realignment bE 5 A% 3,153 347
Transferred from property, plant ER A - S REE(FIFE17)
and equipment (note 17) 5,465 -
Revaluation surplus at the date REREH B EEERAmE
transferred from own-occupied EEXZEHER
properties 3,363 -
Change in fair value NFEZ ZE) 36,080 13,035
At 31 March W=A=+—A8 110,937 62,876
(@) Al of the Group’s investment properties are held to earn @ AEEFAEURRESZSRKENEEBEZ
rentals or for capital appreciation purposes and are measured FrERERERAAFEEREAGFE -
using the fair value model.
(b)  The investment properties shown above consist of medium- (b) LEXFIREEMERENRFTREZFAEEE
term lease land and buildings held in the PRC. T RIEF o
(¢)  The fair values of the Group’s investment properties located © AEERFEZEEMEQFEIERE
in the PRC were valued by Ascent Partners Transaction BASEVEBE B IEEREEM
Service Limited (“Ascent Partners”) at 31 March 2011 and {E Rl Ascent Partners Transaction Service
BMI Appraisals Limited at 31 March 2010, respectively, the Limited ([ Ascent Partners |) & 3B B4 =
independent qualified professional valuers not connected HERARDIRZE——F=A=+—
with the Group. The valuers have appropriate qualifications AN—ZE—ZEF=A=+—H#ET2EE
and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties S - HEMAGEMSBE ZKE - Wi
in the relevant locations. The valuations have been arrived at BHEEEFERRN @R ELE
with reference to market evidence of transaction prices for EITHEZEALS - ERBEEZER
similar properties in the same locations and conditions. ZEEE2ZR BRI E KA T Z 1L
MERZ SER 2 TIHERESDL -
(d)  On 26 January 2011, subject to an interim injunction order 0 RZZFE—F A=+ ZRNEE

(“Interim Injunction Order”) granted by the High Court of Hong
Kong (“High Court”) to Luck Continent against the Company,
the Interim Injunction Order provides, among other things,
until further order, Mr Cheng and the Company, whether by
himself or itself (as the case may be), its agents, servants
or otherwise howsoever, be restrained from procuring
or taking any steps to procure Beijing T-Matrix Culture
Company Limited (“T-Matrix”), a limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, to dispose, assign, charge or otherwise deal
with the Group’s investment properties and leasehold land
and buildings holding by T-Matrix with the carrying amounts
of approximately HK$110,937,000 and HK$19,563,000
respectively at the end of the reporting period. Further details
of which are explained in note 39(b)(1)(i).

mEER(SEER ] RImMNFAR T M
BRI S((REEHS]) - B
BHSRTE - EREE BERE#E—SF
RON  BREERARNT - Eim AL AR
KpalggGRIERmE) - HRE - ZE
AN E A A L - PR HIE 5 s BREUE (A
HEREIERTERE BRI E
EEE]) (—RRFPEFMRIZERE
FRR) WAARRBIZZENBAR)H
& BN R R EEAE
ErHEMERTERBREE ZNEE
BRARMEE 5 B %) A& 110,937,000 7% 7T &
19,563,000 L7 HE L REF o #E—
HRFIBHMIFE39(b)(1)() RFE ©

—z-sz——sfEHs 90
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BBRHRE
Gaming
Leasehold Leasehold Furniture Plant machines
land and improve- and  Office and and

buildings ments fixtures equipment machinery  systems Motor Total
HE HENE  HAR O BAE O KER ESHE  vehicles

T REF 1 %RE B ®E  RE& "E EEH)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000

BT EETrn B¥Trn BETr A¥Tr B¥Trn B¥Tn BT

COST: XA -
At 1 April 2009, as restated RZZEZNFMA-R -
=g ]| 95232 14573 2207 12,746 2,888 18063 6424 152,133
Exchange realignment B H A% 163 93 1 79 - 54 25 415
Additions NE - 1,084 42 875 348 85 416 2,850
Disposals HE - - (105) (1,153 - - (086)  (1,544)
Written off during the year REFWE - (022 (244) (72) (78)  (10,408) - (15824
At 31 March 2010, as restated RZE-Z%F=A
=+—H &35 95305 10,728 1,901 12475 3158 7,794 6,579 138,030
Exchange realignment B H A% 908 264 52 697 172 305 264 2,662
Additions NE 7,204 1,150 75 2444 887 97 1454 14,181
Transferred to investment properties ~ EEZRENE (5,844) - - - - - - (5844
Reclassification EXibr - - - 1,050 - (1,050) - -
Disposals HE (61,404 (1,165) (34) (58) - - (2262 (64,929)
Written off during the year REEHH - (4061) 334) (5,724) (1,119  (8,016)  (2,828) (22,082
At 31 March 2011 RZE——FF
=A=1+-8 36,259 6916 1,660 10,884 3,098 - 3207 62,024
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION:  ZF&7& :
At 1 April 2009, as restated RZZETNEMA-H -
gl 1885 3,953 396 3325 522 1,841 1,706 13,628
Exchange realignment BHAE 8 77 1 32 - 17 8 143
Provided during the year KEERE 1667 432 559 2,672 794 3555 1,236 14,809
Eliminated on disposals HE R - - (39) (518) - - (77) (634)
Eliminated on written off TR - (2212 (182) (45) (72 (219) - (4,708)
At 31 March 2010, as restated RZE-ZF=f
=t+-B £&j5| 3560 6,144 735 5466 1,244 3218 2873 23,240
Exchange realignment BHAE 52 17 29 408 57 158 118 993
Provided during the year KERRE 1,794 2,584 47 2,759 749 1,617 1,253 11,227
Transferred to investment properties ~ EEZHENE (379) - - - - - - (379)
Reclassification ENNE - - - 580 - (580) - -
Eliminated on disposals SR (1,859) (992) (28) 1) - - (1,342 (4252
Eliminated on written off PR - (2,59) (250)  (2444) (1,058) (4413)  (1,102) (11,862)
At 31 March 2011 RZT—F
ZA=1+-8 3,168 5312 957 6,738 992 - 1800 18,967
CARRYING AMOUNTS: BEE:
At 31 March 2011 RZE——%F
ZA=t+-8 33,001 1,604 703 4146 2,106 - 1407 43,057
At 31 March 2010, as restated RZE-Z%F=A

=t—HB &E7| 91,835 4,584 1,166 7,009 1,914 4576 3,706 114,790




17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

PEEEEERRAT

Year ended 31 March 2011

—B-BE—GEEHE

HE-ZT——F=A=+—HILFE

17. Y% - HBERKRE(E)

(Continued)

(a) At 31 March 2010, the carrying amount of motor vehicles @ MRZE—TFZAZ=+—8 AEEIIRE
held by the Group under finance leases amounted to REMREHE 2 /AE 7 REEA636,000
HK$636,000. BIT ©

() At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s leasehold land (o) RIMEHR  AEEZHEE T REFH
and buildings were held under the following lease terms: R THRIEA MEFIFA

2011 2010
—=E——fF —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BETT

Held under medium term leases in:  1RIEFRHIFALEE
- Hong Kong —&E 13,528 67,056
—the PRC — 19,563 24,779
33,091 91,835

(© At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s leasehold © RHEHMR AKEEFREFEOR
land and buildings with the carrying amount of approximately 13,528,000 7T ( —ZZE—Z 4 : 67,056,000
HK$13,528,000 (2010: HK$67,056,000) were pledged to BLI)ZEE LM REFEEM - UER
secure for banking facilities granted to the Group. SEMERTRITEERE -

(d)  On 26 January 2011, subject to an interim injunction order @ R-Z—F—A-+ 8 IBRRSF

(“Interim Injunction Order”) granted by the High Court to
Luck Continent against the Company, the Interim Injunction
Order provides, among other things, until further order, Mr
Cheng and the Company, whether by himself or itself (as the
case may be), its agents, servants or otherwise howsoever,
be restrained from procuring or taking any steps to procure
T-Matrix to dispose, assign, charge or otherwise deal with
the Group’s investment properties and leasehold land and
buildings holding by T-Matrix with the carrying amounts
of approximately HK$110,937,000 and HK$19,563,000
respectively at the end of the reporting period. Further details
of which are explained in note 39(b)(1)(i).

KRB ERMNER A A Al 2 IR <
(TEREZESL ) - BRZEFISRE - K
B BREAE—PESIN KEERK
NE ERABEERAAFEH(RIB
RmE) c HAE - FEASRTAMEMA
T - BREMEESRRE A SRR ETER
P 5 - BEE - A LU E M R
REBMZHENERTERMIZE 2R R
S HRARE{E S 511494 110,937,00078 7T
119,563,000 8 L 2 HE L RIETF o i
— BRI FE 39(b)(1)() B RE -

101




102 c Y Foundation Group Limited Annual Report 2010/11

Year ended 31 March 2011 #Z=—T——F=A=1+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(e)

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipments of
approximately HK$10,220,000 (2010: HK$11,118,000) were
written off, which was mainly arising from the cessation of
the Group’s business in the online game tournament services
and online entertainment platforms (2010: termination of a
rental agreement with the landlord in respect of a leased
property).

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group wrote off
gaming machines and systems with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$8,213,000 which represented the gaming
machines being seized by the Public Security bureau of
Shanghai. Details of the seizure are disclosed in note 39(a).

17. Y1 - BEBERRER)

HE-_Z——S=A=1+—HBILEE &
EEIREE4 10,220,000 T( T —=F
111,118,000 870 ) K93 - BB kil
B - EETARKIEREB BRI
RS RBRIRET & (S —TF  EHET
KIFEE—TEREME 2 AERZ) TR -

HE-_Z-—ZTF-_A=+—HILFE"
AEEMBEEHBREREEDEDY
8,213,000/8 7t + Jhfa & T i L&
N RERE - BREFERKIE39@Q) HE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #&Z=—Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B &EE

License Software Total

[ g @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BT

COST: B -

At 1 April 2009 RZZEAFEA—H 30,213 2,705 32,918
Exchange realignment R 184 17 201
Additions during the year RERKE - 3,488 3,488
At 31 March 2010 RZE-ZF=A=+—H 30,397 6,210 36,607
Exchange realignment RIS 1,337 130 1,467
Additions during the year RERRE - 466 466
At 31 March 2011 WZE——F=A=1—H 31,734 6,806 38,540

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION RIEEBELRE
AND IMPAIRMENT:

At 1 April 2009 RZEENFNA—H 1,009 224 1,233
Exchange realignment B S AR 47 5 52
Provided for the year AFERE 606 1,182 1,788
Impairment loss REBE 13,954 - 13,954
At 31 March 2010 RZZ-TF=R=+—H 15,616 1,411 17,027
Exchange realignment P 5 AR 1,005 87 1,092
Provided for the year TEEREE 621 1,404 2,025
Impairment loss REEE 14,159 3,904 18,063
At 31 March 2011 R=F——F=A=1—H 31,401 6,806 38,207
CARRYING AMOUNTS: EEE@ :
At 31 March 2011 RZZ——F=A=+—H 333 - 333
At 31 March 2010 RZZ-ZF=ZA=+—H 14,781 4,799 19,580
(a) License (@ MR
License has definite useful life and is amortised on a straight- [RRREARAIERAFE - WiZ50F AL
line basis over 50 years. VET AR o
The Group’s intangible assets in license arose from the REEZRRELEET BB FIREET
digital entertainment business. At 31 March 2011, the Ef -R-_ZT——F=—A=+—H B
management reviewed the recoverable amount of the license BiREAEEVHREE B IEEGE
with reference to the valuation issued by an independent BhATEE i 2 M ERS - B R AT
professional valuer not connected with the Group. After due OS5 LBEIERZ AT E SR EF
assessment of the recoverable amount of the license, an b REEERGEEEENERE
impairment loss of approximately HK$14,159,000 (2010: BEEIE# 14,159,000 t( — T —ZT 4 :
HK$13,954,000) was recognised in consolidated profit or 13,954,000 % 7T) ©

loss for the year.
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

License (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the license is determined from
the discounted cash flow value-in-use approach as extracted
from the valuer’s valuation report for the recoverable amount
as at 31 March 2011. The Group prepared cash flow
forecasts derived from the most recent budgets approved
by management and extrapolated over five years. The key
assumptions for the discounted cash flow forecast were
those regarding discount rates and anticipated future sales,
as follows:

- Projected cash flow is based on sales plans derived
from the digital entertainment business plans.

- Management used a discount rate which is derived
as the Company’s cost of capital, representing the
expected return on the Company’s capital, and
assigned a discount rate of 17.84%.

Software

The Group’s intangible assets in software arose from the
online game tournament services and online entertainment
platforms. During the year, the Directors considered the
Group’s software with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$3,904,000 (2010: HK$nil) were impaired, as the Group
ceased to develop the related business. The impaired loss
is recognised in the period in which it arised to the extent
that the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount on
the basis of the respective estimated fair value less cost to
sell. The resultant impairment loss of HK$3,904,000 (2010:
HK$nil) was recognised in consolidated profit or loss for the
year.

18. BV EE (&)

(a)

(b)

&R ()

MR AR Bl S AIRANRIR S REFEAE
BEEAET @ RiraHAEMZEERS TR
R-ZE——F=fF=+—RHza ko
B o NEBIRBIICERABIEZTE
5 ROFHRGHRSREEA - BFER
RemneEr *EREABMANARNLIEH
RERSHES - BT

- REREWUDERBFREE
FHEIEEZHERE -

— EBRABFAINERTVRAQRZ
BAKABE  BARBEARZTE
HAEI3HR X HEE AR IRE 17.84% ©

LGS

RNEEZ S EREET) B RS EE R
RBRIRE T EES - WAFE @ BER
A AEEREELA3,904,0008 T (=
T—TF NG RE  BALEE
BRI ERAMEY - WEEEBRIES
BiEst 2 A EREERAMTE 2 Tk
El£%8 - ARAEBEREEAHARER -
PARFEE D RERA BEPRERERERERE
83,004,000 B TL(ZT—FF ) ©
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For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of
goodwill set out above has been allocated to the Group’s cash
generating unit (“CGU”) of manufacture and sale of packaging
products business.

The Directors are of the opinion that, based on the business
valuation report of the manufacture and sale of packaging
products segment as at 31 March 2011 issued by Ascent
Partners, an independent valuer not connected with the Group,
after due assessment of the recoverable amount of the goodwiill,
an impairment loss of approximately HK$45,349,000 (2010:
HK$5,868,000 impaired for digital entertainment business)
recognised in consolidated profit or loss for the year.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is determined
from the income-based approach calculation as extracted from
Ascent Partners’s valuation report for the recoverable amount as at
31 March 2011.

19. GOODWILL 19. &

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BB TFT

COST: PR
At 1 April RmA—A 107,165 113,563
Exchange realignment P& A% 251 35
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—MHB AR - (6,433)
At 31 March R=A=+—8~ 107,416 107,165

IMPAIRMENTS: A
At 1 April RIEA—H 5,885 6,433
Exchange realignment B 34, 251 17
Impairment loss BEEE 45,349 5,868
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary & — KB A IR - (6,433)
At 31 March R=A=+—A 51,485 5,885

CARRYING AMOUNT: BREFE ¢

At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 55,931 101,280

SURERART S - SN EX 2 EREED D
ERGERENHEBRERRBZRSELSE

fiz ©

EEREA - RIBEAEBEEEE 2B (HEAD
Ascent Partners R —Z——F = =+—H%H
BEREEORERD D BEBERS - KB
BEERIEZAIRE SRR - AFEDREE
B NERBERIE4) 45,349,000 B L ( —F —
TF - BB RS TSR (E 5,868,000 % 7T) ©

B eRIEA 2z KL SR8 M BER 2 (4
ERER - Z——F=A=+—RZAEKREHE
MR e BT A EE -
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20.

BE-Z——F=-A=1+—HILFE

GOODWILL (Continued)

The management of the Group prepared a profit forecast and
cash flow forecast in respect of this CGU (the “Forecasts”). The
Forecasts were based on financial budgets approved by the
management covering a period of five years at a discount rate
17.5% (2010: 11.21%). The cash flows beyond one year were
extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2% (2010: 5%). The
growth rate was based on the relevant industry growth rate forecast
and does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry. The Forecasts for the budgeted period was based
on the budgeted sales and budgeted gross margins during the
budget period. Budgeted gross margins were determined based
on management’s expectation for market development and past
experience, and the management believes that the budgeted gross
margins were reasonable. Based on the Forecasts, the Directors
were of the opinion, that the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds
its recoverable amount and a impairment loss of approximately
HK$45,349,000 (2010: HK$5,868,000 impaired for digital
entertainment business) was made for the year.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

19.

e ()

AEEERERELT S ENREEFITEA LB
mETER([ZIEA]) - ZTEADERERE
BEMEZ AFHVREE RBE17.5% (=
T—2F  11.21%)MatHE c BB —F2HE0
EORBTEERIN(ZT—TF 1 5%){EH
T o W REDEMBBITER RN - BTg
BHABITEZ FHRBEER - BEHM 2%
FERDIREEEESERBHEEMNMEL - EEE
FERERBHEMISER 2B ATLERM
B EREREEEENDBEEE - ENZE
B EERA BEZREEEBRLETKRES
B WA AT E1E R (A E 18 49 45,349,000 8
TL(ZE—ZF « BB RLEETSREE 5,868,000%8
JT) e

20. BtE QRS

2011 2010

=EB——F —E-EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BEET T BT T

Unlisted investment: JEEMRE -

— Share of net assets —EIEFEE 1,048 13,166

— Goodwill -2 15,871 15,871
16,919 29,037
Less: Impairment loss B REEE (16,919) (4,004)
- 25,033

(@ At the end of the reporting period, the Directors have
reviewed the recoverable amounts of the interests in the
associates and they considered that their carrying amounts
are in excess of the recoverable amounts as a result of the
significant decline in the associates’ operating performance
and the unpredictability of future profit streams and dividend
receivable from the associates. Accordingly, a further
impairment loss of approximately HK$12,915,000 (2010:
HK$4,004,000) was recognised for the year ended 31 March
2011.

(@) MIWEHR EFCEMBLERRERZ
AREIEER - MEERBHEREEQRL
R 2 KR TOBARARRFER &K
B A RS 2 NAITEAIE - HEREER
BAIWEIERE - Bt BE—F——F=
RA=1—BILFEE - PHERRERBEL
12,915,000 % 7t (= ZF —Z4F : 4,004,000
BIL) °



20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b)

Particulars of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

PEEEEERRAT

For the year ended 31 March 2011

—B-BE—GEEHE

HE-ZT——F=A=+—HILFE

20. BE N FER (&)

(b)

AEERERRNRERRZFHBOT

Proportion
Place of Nominal value of equity interests
establishment/ issued ordinary held by the Principal
Name of entity operation share capital Group activity
AR, BRTEE rEERE
BEREE EESiE BBRAzEE ZRRELL A TEEK
Score Global Services British Virgin Islands/ US$100 25.00% On-line lottery
Company Limited The PRC 100%ETT distribution in
RBERES/TE the PRC
M8 E1ER 5 88
Well Union Investment Limited Samoa US$1,980 16.31%* Research, design
(“Well Union”) EEGHS 1,980% T development and

During the year, Well Union has made an offer for the right issue on
the basis of seven right shares for every ten existing shares held by
its shareholders (the “Right Issue”), at an issue price of US$1 per right
share. The Right Issue had been offered for the period from 24 March
2011 to 30 March 2011. On 30 March 2011, 657 right shares of US$1
each was issued by creation of additional 657 ordinary shares of US$1
each, ranking pari passu in all respects with the existing shares of Well
Union. As the Group had not subscribed for the Right Issue, upon the
issuance of the 657 right shares on 30 March 2011, the proportion equity
interest held by the Group in Well Union has been diluted from 24.41% as
reported on 31 March 2010 to 16.31% on 30 March 2011. Accordingly,
the Group’s interest in Well Union should be reclassified as available-for-
sale investment (the “reclassification”). As full impairment has been already
made against the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Well Union,
the reclassification did not result in significant impact to the presentation
and amount reported in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the current year and at the end of the reporting period.

manufacturing of
outdoor LCD
video panels
PN SRR
ot - B&E
FERAEE

RAEE - Well Union B IR E X - BEERIRE
FEA 10RIB A ROEER 7 RGEARAR S (TR D) -
BITERSRERRD1ET - HRER =T ——
FZA-tTHNARE-_T——F=A=1HILHH
RE-R-ZE——F=FA=+H 6s7TREKEE
1702 SR AR 17 B B I AR RE SN 657 IREAREIE 1 35
TCZ &R T LAEEAT » WAEFTE 75 E B2 Well Union
RAERMZAREHAL o R ANE BT R AR
B - 657 RIERBRHN=—T——F=A=+H
1714 - NEER Well Union#5 2 IR HELL B —
Z-TEZA=ZT—HERI24MN%EEE T
——H=A=+H216.31% ° Bt + KEEHWel
Union 2 &S DA ARHEERE([EHH
$B1) o IR LEER Well Union 7 125 7 BREIED
EHEECRE - EMD BT EHAEERNAFER
REPRZGANBEREZERREHS RS
N7
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BE-T——FA=+—ALFEE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(©

The summarised financial information in respect of the

20. BE N FER (&)

(© AEEBERRNHMERHEERER

Group’s associates as at the end of the reporting period is set BEHIT
out below:
2011 2010
—E——F —T-ZF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEET T BT T
At 31 March: R=A=+—8:
Total assets BERTE 47,054 116,276
Total liabilities BERSE (42,758) (62,435)
Net assets EEFE 4,296 53,841
Group’s share of net assets AEE DL E
of associates NEIEEFE 1,048 13,166
2011 2010
—E——F —ET-ZF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEET T BT T
For the year ended 31 March: BE=A=1tT—HLFE:
Revenue Uz 28,234 4,593
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE (&), (49,644) 143
Group’s share of results of REEAEED L
associates for the year i l/N T e (12,118) 35
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21. CONVERTIBLE NOTE RECEIVABLES AT 21, ZBRBERBAFEYER2TERRK

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS FEER
Convertible note receivables designated as financial assets at fair EEABBEBREATAEYEZEMEEZ AR
value through profit or loss consisted of: IREIREIRBIE -
Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible
Note 1 Note 2 Note 3 Note 4
AR AR EIE:-J GIE: Y
ZEA1 FE2 ZE3 FE4
Date of issue: 30 April 2009 30 April 2009 6 May 2008 3 December 2008
ZFITHER —ETNEF —ETNEF —EENF —ETNF
mA=+H mA=+H HAKRH +=-A=H
Coupon rate: 5% per annum 5% per annum 8% per annum Nil
SRR BF5% BF5% BF8% i
Maturity date: 29 April 2012 29 April 2012 5 May 2011 2 December 2010
e B AR —E-CF = = —E-EF
MAZ=-+HhH MA=-+AhH AARA +=—HA=H
Principal amount: US$2,000,000 US$2,500,000 US$1,000,000 HK$12,000,000
PN 2,000,000 7T 2,500,000 7T 1,000,000 7T 12,000,000 7% 7T
2011 2010
—=E——fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEET T BT T
Analysed for reporting purpose, BEAVEREHRED
at fair value, as follows: DT -
— Non-current assets —ERBEE - 48,616
— Current assets —mEEE - 12,996
- 61,612
(@) At 31 March 2010, fair values of these unlisted convertible @ RZE—EF=-A=1+—H0 Z5KxLm

AR ERERGRZ AFEDSEREAE
B E B A EREEGERELD
ZIEEMEE - HEDERANERSR
BATIRE TR R IR EUGR 2 B B %
13.01% 2 HTEFHEFT ©

note receivables were determined with reference to the
valuation performed by independent qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group. The valuation was
carried out by adopting the discounted cash flow technique
based on its maturity date of the convertible note receivables
and the discount rate of 13.01%.
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21. CONVERTIBLE NOTE RECEIVABLES AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

(b)

Upon maturity of the Convertible Note 4 on 2 December
2010 and Convertible Note 3 on 5 May 2011 (the “Matured
Notes”), the Matured Notes were neither converted by the
Group nor redeemed by the issuers in accordance with the
respective arrangement in the subscription agreements. It is
noted that the issuers of the Matured Notes, together with
Convertible Note 1 and 2 (collectively “all these Notes”), have
been in significant financial difficulties, and consequently
causing the breaches of prescribed terms of the subscription
agreements, such as a default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments during the year.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over all these Notes. Subsequent to the end
of reporting period, on 6 May 2011, the Company and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, as the holder of Convertible Note
4, have taken legal actions to claim against the underlying
note issuer and guarantor. Further details of this litigation
are stated in note 39(e) to the consolidated financial
statements. Having regard to all these circumstances and
the unpredictability of future cash inflows, the Directors
considered that the Group is unlikely to recover any amount
from these unlisted investments and it is more appropriate
to write down all these Notes to their estimated fair values of
HK$nil at the end of the reporting period.

A fair value loss of approximately HK$61,612,000 was
recognised in consolidated profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2011 (2010: a gain of approximately
HK$6,042,000).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s convertible note
receivable at fair value through profit or loss are denominated
in the following currencies:

EPREBmBRAFEIKRZTRRK
LY LENE )

RO EEIAN T —EF+=-F=H
B AT R ER IR —E——FA AR
AEEA([HEARE])E - SMERMESR
REFEER - NMEHBETARERERZ
AZEBLTHMER - EFEE - BIHE
BERATRREE1 RSB IEZER
B zBITARBBREENHRE - BUFR
BHRIATBRARAFEEER - 10X
S B ASRELIHR ©

AEEN B PTE 2 S RIES A EAER
Sk BREREL (b 15 FRIE S8 16 - AEIREHAR
% MZE——FRHARA  ARANRE
2EMBRR (FRABEREIZFHA
A BEREUVEETHEHBERERETAR
BRARL R - BEZFRIE T
B A I RRMEE39E) P HT - £
BAIEZERLRBERERAZTAIE
A BEFER/AEETATREEZS

EHEREREERFE  RBEER RS
HARMBEMAZERBEEREGAATET

BT

N A{EE1E 461,612,0008 THREZE —
T-—FZ A=+ —HILFEELGFAERE
AR —ZF - JZ5476,042,00078
T ©

REE 2 FBBEEE A FETIRZ AT
RERETAREEE ZUTIEETINE

2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

uss$ ET - 48,616
HK$ BT - 12,996

- 61,612




22.

23.

For the year ended 31 March 2011

TEEEEERRAT —EB-2ZF

HE-ZT——F=A=+—HILFE

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2. fTEERMIA
2011 2010
—E——F —T-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Forward currency contracts: RHEIINESH -
— Non-current —JERE = 193
— Current —nE (46) 1,149
(46) 1,342
The derivatives are measured with reference to exchange rates from PMETIAENZERSEI Az ¢ T E 7 ERLT
financial instruments for equivalent instruments. £

The Group has entered into various forward currency contracts
to manage its exchange rate exposures which did not meet the
criteria for hedge accounting. Change in the fair value of the non-
hedging currency derivatives amounting to HK$1,388,000 (2010:
HK$1,342,000) to consolidated profit or loss for the year.

AEECFUZERINEEL  UEBETE
R ERTEIRIRE ERE G o AFELREE

HREH P EBTAETAZ A TEZESHEER
1,388,000 T(=EF—F4 : 1,342,000/87T) °

HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT 23. HFEEINHMAZRE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BETT
Pledged structured deposit disclosed — # 52 & B & &=
as current assets (2010: (ZZ—ZF : RHEE)
non-current assets) PARE v S N 2,000 2,000

At the end of the reporting period, the held-to-maturity investment
represents a structured deposit which has a maturity of one (2010:
two) year(s) with a nominal amount of HK$2,000,000 (2010:
HK$2,000,000). The held-to-maturity investment was pledged to
secure for banking facilities granted to the Group.

RBEMR - FHAZRHA 2R ERERGERIE

GR EBrRERE—F(ZE—FTF: Z_F) -
£ SR A2,0000008 L (T —ZTF

2,000,000 L) - FEZHHARECEAA
FEAREE A ER TIRITEE -

——erEgs 111
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24. INVENTORIES 24. FE
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BB TFT
Raw materials R 10,240 11,470
Work-in-progress R 12,778 5,659
Finished goods BURN G 6,778 11,645
29,796 28,774
25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EZ RHEHMERK
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade receivables FEWE 5 8RTE 22,772 23,768
Other receivables H b FEUR 13,074 30,709
Less: Impairment loss B OREEE (12,223) (23,352)
851 7,357
Deposits and prepayments e MFERR 21,578 15,302
Deposit paid for acquisition of W B AT IR R R MR 2
convertible note receivable Bfiee - 12,000
Deposits paid for game software PR K hE AR
development and licenses ZEMNZS 30,000 -
51,578 27,302
Less: Impairment loss B R (EREE (41,872) -
9,706 27,302
33,329 58,427
(@)  The Group grants a credit period normally ranging from cash @ AEE-RETFTHESEFRNTEBEUR
on delivery to 90 days to its trade customers. For those FEQORAZEER - BEANEEEY R T
customers who have established good relationships with the FBZEEmME  FEHIEE1208 -

Group, the credit period may be extended to 120 days.
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25 B REMEWRK(E)

(Continued)
(o) At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of the b) RBEHXR REXZAHEEKREZE SR
trade receivables, based on invoice date, is as follows: BIEH 2 BRECOMTIT
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Within 60 days 60 HIA 15,081 11,811
61-90 days 61E90H 2,750 3,817
91-180 days 912180 H 4,406 5,154
181-365 days 1812365 H 496 2,764
Over 365 days 365 HIA L 39 222
22,772 23,768
(©  Atthe end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade (€ MHmEHRR BAHERREZERKES
receivables that were past due but not impaired is as follows: R Z BREEDITINT
2011 2010
—=E——fF —T-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Neither past due nor impaired B &3 B IR &R (B 15,796 15,563
Less than 60 days past due BEI60 B 2 3,705 1,877
61 to 90 days past due #HI6G1 HE 90 H 1,895 2,861
91 to 180 days past due #mEo1 H=E180 H 1,338 2,121
Over 180 days past due #mE180 HIAE 38 1,346
22,772 23,768

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers who has no recent history
of default. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

SR B TR R (E < FE AN B 2 BRSO S B
BRRBZBMUETS - ARBWEZFEHRET
BEmERR -

SR B E TR E < FE B 5 BR TS K B SR [
BERIEBLH 2 SIBITS - ERBEL
% BHERR BANZFEHELRER
B HARNEEEEN EEANRE A MR
WERAI2BKE - AREWERZSERITE
EfE R
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(@

25. 5 REMEBYK(E)

(Continued)
The movements in impairment losses of other receivables, o) HipEk e RBEMNRZHERBEZ
deposits and prepayments are as follows: BT :
2011 2010
—E——F —T-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BB TFT
At 1 April REA—H 23,352 29,462
Exchange realignment (R 882 144
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHRBAR - (3,924)
Written off against other 5 EL A FE R
receivables (21,235) -
Provided during the year FREHE 51,677 3,000
Reversal during the year F R (581) (5,330)
At 31 March W=A=+—A8 54,095 28,352
Included in the impairment loss of other receivables, deposits FEARAEYGR - e RIAN R R EE
and prepayments are individually impaired other receivables BEEABIEL H54,095,0008T(=F
and deposits with an aggregate balance of approximately — T4 1 23,352,000 7 ) Z & Bl & B ok
HK$54,095,000 (2010: HK$23,352,000) which are due to Wiel K,/ SR 2 B A E A PR R 3R
long outstanding and/or default of payment. The Group & o REEN B A F AR A TAER
does not hold any collateral over these balances. Impaired mh o B TEEN IR B (] 5RIER - BIRER
amounts were directly written off against deposits and THEZENIRS R EWEMEE -
receivables when there was no expectation of recovering any
amount.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other e AEEZBIHEREMEBUGREEREBENLT

receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

A EHE

2011 2010
—E——fF —E—TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

EUR BT 15,344 16,378
RMB AR 1,849 6,688
uss$ ET 3,629 2,492
GBP HgE 934 705
HK$ BT 11,573 32,164
33,329 58,427




26.

27.

AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED PARTY

At 31 March 2011, the balance represents an amount due from Ms.
Leonora Yung (“Ms. Yung”), the wife of Mr. Cheng and a director
of a subsidiary of the Company. The balance is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and has no fixed term of repayment.

At the end of last reporting period, the balance with a related
company, Horizon Structured Solutions Limited (“Horizon”)
controlled by Mr. Wu and Mr. Cheng, the key management
personnel who have significant influences over Horizon. The
maximum amount outstanding from Horizon for the year ended 31
March 2010 disclosed pursuant to Section 161B of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance was approximately HK$20,000. The amount
was unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
AND CASH BALANCES

For the year ended 31 March 2011

26.

27.

MEEEREARAT —B-TF —FEEHE

HE-ZT——F=A=+—HILFE

FE W BRE 5

R-B——F=A=1+—H  ZEHRERRRE
([t KEEzZEFR—RHIBL
BIZER)ZHR - ZEHRAEER 2508
& FE R

RE—HEHKR &g —HEERQT
Horizon Structured Solutions Limited ([ Horizon])
ZRARBEREERKEE(ETEERBAE 8
Horizon js N8 K 5228 ) 12 il « IRIBE B QARG
PlIBZHEER  RBEE-_ZE-TF=H
—+—HIFE Horizon X EERREBHNA
20,0008 7T ° ZAIEAEER - L ERIREK

fEE -

BEHRBRITERRRITRESER

2011 2010

—E——F —E-TF

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Pledged bank deposits (note) IR TE R (MI5E) 2,428 22,050
Bank and cash balances IRITMIR S 54 36,638 105,462
39,066 127,512

Note: These bank deposits were pledged to secure for the banking
facilities granted to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, bank and cash balances
comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits
with an original maturity period of three months or less. Bank
balance and pledged deposits carried interest at market rates
ranging from 0.01% to 0.78% per annum (2010: 0.01% to 12.5%
per annum).

=

o ZERITERER/RHRTARE ZRT
BUE 2 HRIR

REEHR - ROTMBSERBREAEERF Y
ReRARNHHA=Z@ AT 2R HRTT
BTk o SRITHRBRRIBRFRIIIZEF0.01% 5
0.78% (ZE—ZF : HF0.01% £12.5%) 2™
SRR B2 EIBFR
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27.

28.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
AND CASH BALANCES (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the bank and cash balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
HK$6,338,000 (2010: HK$40,129,000). Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s pledged bank deposits
and bank and cash balances are denominated in the following
currencies:

27. MIFRITERRBITRAESER
(%)

RHEHR » AEBUARE(ARE DEEZ
RITRIR S 458425 6,338,000 870 (- — T4 ¢
40,129,000 7T) - AR H IR BINE BB T
BONEERIEHI RAEE SERMNEETERTE -

REE 2 EIRRITFRRRIT LR SEHZRE
BN THIEEE :

2011 2010
—E——F —E—EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

HKS$ BT 26,035 40,619
RMB AR 6,338 40,129
AUD SBIT 2,433 25,006
Us$ ET 612 15,292
EUR BT 3,333 4,829
Others Hith 315 1,637
39,066 127,512

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

28. EZ R EMENR

2011 2010

=F——-F —TFF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Trade payables EE SERE 9,493 8,663
Accrued expenses and other payables JERTE A R EMERNR 28,092 21,372

37,585 30,035




28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

TEEEEERRAT —F-

For the year ended 31 March 2011

E-—FEEHE

HE-ZT——F=A=+—HILFE

28. EZ RHEMEMARE)

(Continued)

()  Atthe end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade @ PWEHR RERAHPHUENEFRE
payables, presented based on the invoice date, is as follows: {EH Z BRER TR0 T

2011 2010

—E——F —T-EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT

Within 60 days 60HA 7,707 6,145
61 to 90 days 61E90H 7 613
91 to 180 days 912180 H 15 545
181-365 days 1812365 H 90 443
Over 365 days 365 B 1,674 917
9,493 8,663

(b)  The average credit period on purchase of goods is ranged b)) HEERZTHEEEEHNTI0EOHZ
from 30 to 90 days (2010: 30 to 90 days). The Group has T—ZF :30F90H) - AEEEHTHE
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all aWHEERERBE - MREMAEN
payables are settled within the credit time frame. RIEEERFIERAEE -

(¢) Included in accrued expenses and other payables are ) EFAEARAEMENRBERBREHR
amounts in total of approximately HK$1,103,000 (2010: ERARRIESE A ESHSEED
HK$1,541,000) representing accrued directors’ fees payable 1,103,000 8 7T( = ZF—Z4 : 1,541,000 %
to the Company’s directors at the end of the reporting period. JC) o RIEHIRE - AARESZER
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there are WAEETES  E—FHBHNREGREY
certain changes in employment status of the Company’s HmERMEB13 -
directors, and further details of which are described in note
183 to the consolidated financial statements.

(d)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other 0 AEEZESRHMENFBEIEZIREE

payables are denominated in the following currencies

IATHIEEETIE

2011 2010
—E——F —T-EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

RMB AR 18,033 5,096
HK$ BT 15,388 24,343
Others H 4,164 596
37,585 30,035

117




1 18 C Y Foundation Group Limited Annual Report 2010/11

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z—ZT——F=A=1+—HILFE

29.

30.

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS/RELATED
COMPANIES

The balances with the Directors and related companies are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there are certain
changes in employment status of the Company’s directors, and
further details of which are described in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

At the end of last reporting period, the total future minimum lease

29, ERES BEARZNE

HEELENR CEHRAEER 2 NRE
KEE - RBEHREK - ARAREZZEBMARR
BETEE - THEHNEEWEHRRME
13°

30. AEHNENRIEA

RE—REHR - ARBEBEOZERENK

payments under finance leases and their present values was as MEREBENT
follows:
Present value of
Minimum lease minimum lease
payments payments
RERENT SERENFZHRE
2010 2010
—T-ZF —T-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB
Amounts payable under finance lease: BRETRNENTE |
— Within one year - —FR 412 356
— More than once year, but not exceeding two years ~ — HBiB—F » (ENBBMF 69 58
481 414
Less: Future finance charges W BRIBER (66) -
Present value of lease obligations MEREZHE 415 414
Less: current portion W REER S (356)
Non-current portion FEREBED 58

At the end of last reporting period, finance lease payables of the
Group carried interest at fixed interest rate of 3.98% per annum.
The Group’s finance lease payables were secured by the lessor’s
charge over the leased assets. All finance lease payables were
denominated in HK$.

RIER - NEE 2 BEHEAENFIESIZE
FEMERGF3.98%:T 8 - NEERERQEIK
BSAMBASTHEE Z 2 W FER - AR
EHEOBEHABITAE °
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31. BANK BORROWINGS 31. RITEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZE-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
(Restated)
(f==51)
Analysis of carrying amounts shown FIAREBEZREEDI
under current liabilities:
- Portion due for repayment R—FRERED BB
within one year 875 4,848
— Portion due for repayment after R—EREERBIFIRELR
one year which contain a EERER B
repayment on demand clause 5,305 38,708
6,180 43,556
Secured BEA 6,180 34,556
Unsecured IR - 9,000
6,180 43,556
Bank borrowings repayable (note): JERRITREE (M)
— On demand or within one year BERS R —FA 875 4,848
— More than one year but not BR—FETBAMRTF
exceeding two years 899 4,912
— More than two years but BBMEENEARF
not more than five years 2,840 14,122
— More than five years BARF 1,566 19,674
6,180 43,556

Note: the amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in BIRE : R ERTIENEE \TﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂZ}E%@ BEERHRZ
the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on demand BRIR BB G2 %
clause.

(@)  Atthe end of the reporting period, bank loans carried interest @ HEBEER ROTERVRRESGERE
at floating rates of exchange ranging from the Hong Kong HEEE mﬂa—/}ﬁkt¢2 1% EREEER
best lending rate less 2.1% to the best lending rate less 2.9% FRF2.9% 2 FEFIRETE -
per annum.

(o) At the end of the reporting period, the bank borrowings are () MMEHR - RITEFUAEE L RE
secured by the leasedhold land and buildings, pledged bank FERROTERAEBEEIHARKREE
deposits and held-to-maturity investment as set out in notes IR (4R & BT RS SRR RE 17 ~ 28 ]2 27
17, 23 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements. Fr#) o

(¢)  Atthe end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the € MRIEHKR AEBZRTEEZEREEE

Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in HK$. AETTYIME »
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32. DEFERRED TAX 32, IEAERIE

Change in
fair value
of investment
properties Revaluation
RENEZ of properties Tax losses Total
ATEED MEE HIEERE Fohy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT BT BETT
At 1 April 2009 RZEENFNA—H 1,057 207 - 1,284
Exchange realignment @}E EES 18 - @) 16
Charged to consolidated REEEBRA
profit or loss el 3,820 - (1,311) 2,509
At 31 March 2010 RZZ—TF=RA=1+—H 4,895 227 (1,313) 3,809
Exchange realignment B AR 216 a7 (59) 204
Charged to consolidated JiNCNER LT
profit or loss ez 8,703 - 1,372 10,075
Charged to other comprehensive REf 2 EKAR
income Mk - 841 - 841
At 31 March 2011 W-E——%=F=+-A 13,814 1,115 - 14,929
At the end of the reporting period, subject to agreement by tax REEHR - IBREBEMBIEETHE - NEE 2K
authorities, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately RBIEEEL £79,192, oooi%ﬁ(:%—%i :
HK$79,192,000 (2010: HK$73,192,000). At 31 March 2010, a 73,192,000 L)  RZE—ZEF=A=+—

deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of approximately

H ERZEBHED 5,252,000/’55 TLHERIE R

HK$5,252,000 of such losses. No deferred tax assets have HIBEE - EEIJ:?"K—HEE‘I‘ﬂUKHﬂU\ﬁ - BEAZ
been recognised in respect of the tax losses of approximately ERIEEE 79,192,000 T( Z T —ZTF :

HK$79,192,000 (2010: HK$67,940,000) due to the unpredictability
of future income stream. At 31 March 2011, approximately
HK$36,320,000 (2010: HK$27,712,000) included in the above
unused tax losses that will expire within five years from the year of
assessment they relate to. The remaining balances may be carried
forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends in respect of profits earned by the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries from 1 April 2008 onwards (the “Post-2008 Earnings”).
Deferred tax has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to the
Post-2008 Earnings as no Post-2008 Earnings was noted for the
years ended 31 March 2010 and 2011.

67,940,000 8 7T ) Z IEIEFL IR T LATERR « M=
—F=HA=1+—H ' 436,320,000 (=%
—Z4F 1 27,712,000 70 ) 5T A Ll KRB FAFLIA
E18 - Wi ER T FE BT A FAE R E
18 o BRRE A EPR AL EE o

RIBERBEMEMETE BT N\FMNA—H
RATREMNBARBRIUER( ZEENFEA
FOMEIRZIEE - BHNBEIH - AREZE=
—ZEER T ——F=-f[=+—BLFETE
ZETN\FREF A AEEWREELLEEH
BRER T N\FRBF B 2B EETE
IRIERIIA o
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HE-T-—FZA=t-ALEE

33. B

Number of shares

gk =]
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each Notes ’000 HK$’000
HRYEE0.001 Btz Ti@% ihE=s TFhx FET
Authorised: AR
At 31 March 2011 and 2010 NI ——F R —FF
—A=+—H 300,000,000 300,000
Issued: B 24T -
At 1 April 2009 RZEZNFMNA—H 4,853,482 4,853
Issue of shares upon: BITHRAD -
— conversion of convertible loan notes — Al R B R R IR iR (@) 1,500,000 1,500
— settlement of consideration in —EE IR B AR
respect of acquisition of subsidiaries ZR(E (o) 2,229 3
- exercise of share options — T g AR () 13,000 13
— exercise of warrant subscription rights ~ — 1T A% HE 5 RS #E () 600,000 600
At 31 March 2011 and 2010 RZE——FR T —FF
=A=+—H 6,968,711 6,969
Notes: Bi5E -
(a) On 15 April 2009, the convertible loan note holder converted the (a) R-IZTZHFNA+RB  ARRERZRER
convertible loan notes issued by the Company with an aggregate principal AREROOIBTLZ BB AR A EITHEAK
amount of HK$15,000,000 into 1,500,000,000 ordinary shares of the £ 515,000,000 T2 A R ERZE LA

Company of HK$0.001 per share of at a conversion price of HK$0.01 per
share.

On 15 July 2009, 2,229,164 ordinary shares of HK$0.001 per share was
issued as partial settlement in relation to the acquisition of T-Matrix at a
contract price of HK$1.375 per share.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the share options holders exercised
3,000,000 and 10,000,000 share options at HK$0.10 and HK$ 0.09,
respectively.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 29 January 2007,
600,000,000 units of warrants were issued on 31 January 2007 to the
shareholders of the Company to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.001 per share at an initial subscription price of HK$0.01
per share. On 18 December 2009, warrants carrying subscription rights of
HK$6,000,000 were exercised.

All new shares issued ranked pari passu in all respects with the then
existing shares in the Company.

1,500,000,000 B 452~ Bl AR 1A 0.001 B 7T 2 & i
B o

RZTTNFELA+TRRB - F1772,229,164 KT
AREE0.001 BT 2 EBIRIEAAA LIEER1.375
BTWETERM BN -

HE_T-TF=A=+-HILFE  BRERE
A9 BIEA0.10 7 7T 1 0.09 7 7T 17 £ 3,000,000 5 K&
10,000,000 15 & A4 °

BER-_ZTLF-A-TNERBz —HEBR
FZ © 600,000,000 BREFE N T LF—
A=Z+—BEITTARABRE - WRNTRBEES
f0.01 B TLRE AR EREEO0.001 8T Bl
g e RZZETNF+=A+/\B * }14H6,000,000
BLRER I REEEE TR -

FAMBHESHENEARAER ZEERNE
BREER -
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 3. EREECROEBRAEARS

PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the shareholders
of the Company on 30 August 2002 (“Share Option Scheme”), the
Directors may for a consideration of HK$1 offer to selected eligible
persons to subscribe for shares in the Company as incentive or
rewards for their contribution to the Group. The maximum number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

At the end of the reporting period, the number of issuable share
options under the Share Option Scheme of the Company was
438,633,830 (2010: 438,633,830), representing approximately 6%
(2010: 6%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

The subscription price will be determined by the Directors at its
absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less than the
higher of the nominal value for the time being of each share in the
Company, the average closing price of the shares in the Company
as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the date
on which the relevant option is granted and the closing price of the
shares in the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date on which the relevant option is granted.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing on 26 September 2002.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, no (2010: 2,000,000) share
options were granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible
participants of the Company.

First phase:

On 3 November 2008, options were granted to subscribe for an
aggregate of 10,000,000 shares of the Company, with an exercise
price calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme at HK$0.09 per share. The closing price of the
Company on the day immediately preceding the offer of grant was
HK$0.09 per share. Those who were granted with the options can
exercise their rights from 3 November 2008 to any time before
expiry date on 2 November 2018.

REARBABRRR-_ZZ-_FN\A=THERAZ
FERERT &I ([ BAERTEl))  EFA MBI
REALHIEZ AERATRERBBARRRN
ZEBH - (ERREHARBEELER 2 ZR)%E
| o RIBEE AR B R AR R EFEAME BIR H
2B ZBRNEE - RafEER - NS
FBARB IR 2 B EITRAZ 30% °

RBERAR AR EREFEETA
438,633,830 19 (—ZZE—F4F : 438,633,830 19 ) A]
BT ERE - EEBARRFEEBITRND Z6%
(ZZ—ZF :6%) °

RABECHESBUYRNBETE  EEEABR
T RBETFERARFAEREREMNZEH
B - ARBIRNNEZE HBRER L A HaE
BRLEXS A EHIMERRER LMK T
BT E R AR BB B RERE R L B BT
BRAERRER LAARZUTEARSER
%) o

BRETEER T FNAATRBERE
B BRESETE -

REE-ZT——F=ZA=+—HILFEE TE
(ZZ—=4 : 2,000,000 17 ) §& A% & B 1R 15 88 A%
EETEE T ARG Z A BN HEE o

SE—HetE

RIZBZNF+—R=0 BRHZBRETR
R A A4 $£10,000,000/% i 15 - HATEEE K
0.0978 T Y IRBIBE AR 8] 2 IRGHE © ARF]
Bein MERFE H BAF 2 B AR E A EAR0.09
BT BREREZALTTA_ZZNF+—A
ZHER =T N\F+— A= AERTEERE
IR E ZHER o



34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Second phase:

On 10 December 2008, options were granted to subscribe for an
aggregate of 9,000,000 shares of the Company, with an exercise
price calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme at HK$0.10 per share. The closing price of the
Company on the day immediately preceding the offer of grant was
HK$0.10 per share. Those who were granted with the options can
exercise their rights in multiple periods starting from 10 December
2009 to 9 December 2018 as follows:

From 10 December 2009
to 9 December 2018
From 10 December 2010
to 9 December 2018
From 10 December 2011
to 9 December 2018

— approximately 3,000,000 shares
— approximately 3,000,000 shares

— approximately 3,000,000 shares

Third phase:

On 30 April 2009, options were granted to subscribe for an
aggregate of 2,000,000 shares of the Company, with an exercise
price calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme at HK$0.52 per share. The closing price of the
Company on the day immediately preceding the offer of grant was
HK$0.079 per share. Those who were granted with the options can
exercise their rights in multiple periods starting from 28 February
2010 to 28 February 2012 as follows:

From 28 February 2010 — 500,000 shares
to 28 February 2012

From 28 August 2010 — 500,000 shares
to 28 February 2012

From 28 February 2011 — 500,000 shares
to 28 February 2012

From 28 August 2011 — 500,000 shares

to 28 February 2012

MEEEREARAT —B-TF —FEEHE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &#&=—Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

U EEEEZROERGLENARS

(&)
55T -

RIZZNF+-A+TH SRHZBERER
BB7R AR5 #£9,000,000 AR 1 - EITEEEK
00T YIRBEIBEBAER 8] 2 IRGHE © ARF]
PRI BRI 2 AT 2 B E AF0.10
BT BRBEREZALTARTI _ZTNF
ToATHRECZ-NFETZAARILHES
HATER S 2R -

—EENF+ZA+HZE — 43,000,0008%% 15
—F-\Ft=-ANA
C—ZTF+=—HA+HZE — #3,000,0008 1%
—E-N\F+ZANAB
—Z——F+-A+HZE — 43,000,000/% %%
—E-\F+ZANH

E=HFTE

R_EZNFMA=+H " BRHZERE
REARNTA ££2,000,000 RS - HEITEES
[%0.52 & T ThiRiE AR AE T Sl 2 B EHE » K
NAROREERLZLNR 2 ANKmERER
0.07987TT - EREBREZATAIR T ZZE—
ZF-_A-tN\HEBE=ZE——F-A=1+N\H
LB D BT F 2 R -

—E-EF_A=+NHZE — 500,000 &%
——F-A=+)N\H
c—ZF)\A=+/\HZ — 500,000 f&#Hn
—F#-A=+NH
xffﬁ A=+ \BZE — 500,000h%[% %
—E——FZA=+NH
—T——EAH +/A\BZE — 500,000 k&% %
T——_9#-A=+N\H
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED N EEFEZCROVERGARS
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (%)
Movements of the Company’s share options during the year are set RAEHBRIERFAZEBENIT
out below.
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding at at 31 March at 31 March  Exercise price
1 April 2009 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2010 Lapsed 2011 per share
RZZENE during during during R-ZF-Zf during R-F--F in HK$
Participants Date of grant mA-H the year the year theyear ZA=t-A theyear ZAZt-H  BRAKE
8% RiLAH HATE  RERRE  RERGE  RERRN HATE  RERAH HATE B
Employess 10 December 2008
28 “ET/\Ft-BtE 9,000,000 - (3,000,000, - 6000000 (5,000,000) - 010
30 April 2009
“ETNERAZTA - 2,000,000 - (95,000 1,905,000 (1,630,000 275,000 052
Business associates 3 November 2008
EBHEAL ZTE\FT-A=H 10,000,000 - (10,000000) - - - - 009
19,000,000 2,000,000 (13,000,000) (95,000 7,905,000 (7,630,000) 275,000
Exercisable at the end
of the reporting period
REEHRTARE 10,000,000 476,250 206,250
Weighted average
exercise price (HKS)
METHAEE(ET) 009 0.5 0.092 052 0.52 019 052
The Group recognised the total expense of approximately REBRAFERANARMELERE ATE
HK$134,000 (2010: HK$65,000) for the year in relation to the fair TR BRI 4 134,000 8L (= F—Z4F 165,000

value of the share options granted by the Company. BIT) e



35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

PEEEEERRAT

For the year ended 31 March 2011

—B-BE—GEEHE

HE-ZT——F=A=+—HILFE

35. RERERBRME

Disposal of subsidiaries (a) HEMBLTR
On 29 June 2009, the Group completely disposed of its RIZBEZNAFENA-+THLB  KEBUR
entire equity interests in Hamlet Group together with their BB LHEE R Hamlet £ 8~ 2 2 #E x5
shareholder’s loans to an independent third party at a BRGEHBEYE=Z A ZREER - £E
consideration of HK$2. There was no goodwill attached with Hamlet 5= &) 17 2 ff 5T A] 52 - Hamlet &
the disposal of Hamlet Group. The net liabilities of Hamlet ERNLERBzaEFEOT
Group at the date of disposal were as follows:
Hamlet Group
Hamlet £
HK$’000
BETFT
Net liabilities disposed of: &z BEFE :
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EAMEYR 2,617
Bank and cash balances RIT RIS R 187
Trade and other payables B 5 REMPERR (4,428)
Amounts due to the Group FERASERIE (316,652)
(318,276)
Assignment of amounts due to the Group HEREMNANEEFIE 316,652
Gain on disposal R 1,624
Total consideration mRE -
Net cash outflow arising on HEMBARMESL ZIRERLFHE
disposal of subsidiaries:
Cash consideration received BUE 2 RERE -
Bank and cash balances disposed of RITEHBRRNERS (187)
(187)

The subsidiaries disposed during the year ended 31 March
2010 had no significant impact on the turnover and results of
the Group.

Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company
issued 2,229,164 new ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each
at the price of HK$1.375 per share to Zhuming (Beijing)
Enterprise Management Limited and Beijing Yinhe Matrix
Network Technology Limited, for a total of approximately
HK$3,065,000, as final settlement of the consideration
payables by a subsidiary for the acquisition of T-Matrix.

(b)

RBE_ZT-—ZTF=A=+—HILFEH
EZHBRARAEAEER 2 S XBREEY
BEAVE -

FERHRERS

REE-ZT-—ZTF=-_F=+—HIFE
A - RRBIRERA.3758 T 2 BI&EETT
2,229,164 % Z R EE0.001 BT 2 ¥ B
fEFEFUET)PEERFRARMIER
SO BREMERAF - HF R
FRIB4AREH) /53,065,0008 7T © EA—H
MEBARKETEREEMNNE &L

o
N
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company did
not have any significant contingent liabilities (2010: Nil).

37. COMMITMENTS 37.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
commitments:

(@) Commitments under operating leases
AS lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging
from one to three years. The terms of the leases generally
also require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide
for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing
market conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

HREE

RBER - RNEEMARBL EEFEARA
BE(CEZF \)-

S

i

(a)

SR AEBZALZMT

REBNARE
AL BE 3TN

AEERBEEHELZFHEEREY
X HEBEBMEF—FE2E=F - HH—K
DHREMRP X ERRE MRERITHR
HHSETEHRE -

R|ER - REBRBTARBZKE
TR EEAE 5 AT S AT B B AR RS AR A K9 5%
1B/

EAVETON

2011 2010
=F——F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Within one year —&FR 5,759 4,867
In the second to fifth years, inclusive & -ZFRAFRN(RIEEERTF) 4,138 1,299
9,897 6,166
As lessee REFERATAA

The Group leases certain of its office properties and staff
quarters under operating lease arrangements. Leases are
negotiated for a term ranging from one to ten years (2010:
one to five years). The Group does not have an option to
purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the leased period.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which are payable as follows:

AEBERBEERNLFEEETHAE
MERBTRE - WEZBHOFHNF—
E+HE(ZF-TF: —ERF) - AKHE
YEREMERSTRERHEECEEZ
EIEE o

RIRE R - AR B RN A B A S A A
i 7B A AR R AR AT R - BRI
B
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37. COMMITMENTS (Continued) 37. EE(E)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following RRERR - REBZ&AEWNT :
commitments:
(@) Commitments under operating leases (a) REBLRIEGE)
(Continued)
As lessee (Continued) KEBIERATAN ()
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Within one year —FR 10,477 5,739
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ -ZFREN(BIEEEME) 24,500 7,520
Over five years REL L 1,131 -
36,108 13,259
(b) Capital commitments (b) BEAREIE
2011 2010
—E——F —T-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Capital expenditure contracted for B 5T #MEN E 4R A BAFSIRER
but not provided in the AELBH EARME
consolidated financial statements
in respect of:
— Acquisition of property, plant B2 - HEs RERE
and equipment - 319
— Acquisition of intangible asset W& EE - 432
- 751
(c) Other commitments in respect of licensing (c) MBBNARZHEMAE
payments
At 31 March 2010, the licensing arrangement is contracted RZEBE—ZF=ZA=+—80 BH=F2
for a term up of three years. Pursuant to the licensing MERZ BB AT - IRIBERLH RESE
arrangement, subject to the condition of obtaining certain TG HEBER 2GR - AEEER=E
online game licenses, the Group has to pay the licensor, F A R BRI A A AR IR 2 AR AR
a non-refundable minimum guarantee in the total sum FA F£5,000,000% 7T - HARFERE
of US$5,000,000, payable by three annual installments. ERESEREEIER 2 SBIEHE - Rk
As the respective condition of obtaining the online game & BRI AR FE AR BREE -

licenses had not been fulfilled during the year, there were
no corresponding commitments outstanding at the end of
reporting period.
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. BEALIRS
(@  Inaddition to the balances detailed in notes 26 and 29 to the @ BRABINERE M IEIRAM 26 R 29MEF it
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the EEERON - FAREBEEEEE A TS
following significant transactions with related parties during BAZZIOT ¢
the year:
2011 2010
—E2—-F —T-ZF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BifzE BT BB
Rental income received in B UER Horizon
respect of renting properties BEMEERRAE
to Horizon as office ZHBWA ), (i) 60 158
Consultancy fee paid to B/ Bersett International
Bersett International (HK) Ltd. ([ Bersett])
(HK) Ltd (“Bersett”) ERER (i), ) 500 833
Purchase of watches A EBERERBR AT
from Shanghai Heng Po ([ LEERDREFHR
Watch Company Limited*
(“Shanghai Heng Po”)
PEEREZRERLF (i), (v 8,955 6,176

The English name is for identification only * B EEEHRSE

0] Rental fee received from the related party was made on terms i) RBEEAT WIS —FTREE H ERE
mutually agreed between both parties. TEZAGRHETT ©

(i) Consultancy fee paid to the related party was made on terms (ii) MEEATZNBRBRZENIREI R E
mutually agreed between the involved parties. T LR E 2 IGRRHETT o

(i) The prices of purchasing watches from Shanghai Heng Po was (i) B DBERREER 2 ERHRESERT
made on terms mutually agreed between the involved parties. HEHE 2 BRETE ©

(v)  Mr. Wu and Mr. Cheng are the key management personnel and (iv) REERKEERTEEEAE BEAR
have significant influences over the Company and Horizon. &) & Horizon MEMNE K £ o

v) Mr. Wu is the key management personnel and has significant (v) REERFTEERBAE BHARAR
influence over the Company and Bersett. Bersett fE iNE AL -

(vl Ms. Yung is the key management personnel and has significant V) BAUTAFEEEAS  BHARAR LS
influence over the Company and Shanghai Heng Po. EREMNERZE -

(b)  Key management compensation (b)) EEEIREETN

The key management personnel of the Group comprise all AEEXZEEENEREARAIZEE

the Directors and the five highest paid individuals. Details ERFEBERFNALT -EEREEES

of the compensation to Directors and the five highest paid AL 2 Bl e IR R a B ISRkt

individuals are included in note 13 to the consolidated 13

financial statements.



39. LITIGATIONS

(a)

The Company and Billion Cosmos Investment
Limited (“Billion Cosmos”), as plaintiffs

On 29 October 2008, Billion Cosmos (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) as purchaser and Weike(S)
Pte Limited (“Weike”, a company owned as to 50% equity
interest by Mr. Poh Po Lian (“Mr. Poh”), the then director
and a controlling shareholder of the Company) as vendor,
entered into an agreement relating to acquisition of gaming
machines from Weike (collectively “Weike Machines”) at the
total consideration of HK$9,893,000.

On 13 June 2010, the Weike Machines were confiscated
by the public security bureau of Shanghai for not having
obtained the endorsement of the Shanghai Municipal
Administration of Culture Radio Film & TV. Pursuant to the
Agreement, the vendor is responsible for obtaining the
endorsement. A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
thereby instructed lawyers to submit to Shanghai No.2
Intermediate People’s Court (the “Court”) a claim (“Claim”)
against the vendor, in which the subsidiary sought orders for
(i) refund of RMB 8,704,851 (being the full consideration in
RMB for the purchase of the Weike Machines), (i) damages
of amount provisionally assessed at RMB5,000,000, (iii)
vendor’s delivery to the subsidiary materials in relation to
the Weike Machines in respect of customs, commodity
inspection and tax, and (iv) all costs of the claim to be borne
by the vendor. On 26 July 2010, the Court issued to the
subsidiary a notice of acceptance of lawsuit confirming its
acceptance of the filing of the Claim.

On 7 March 2011, a writ of summons was issued in the
Court of First Instance at the High Court of Hong Kong
(“Court of First Instance”) by the Company as 1st plaintiff
and Billion Cosmos as 2nd plaintiff claiming against Weike
as 1st defendant and Mr. Poh as 2nd defendant for, inter
alia, breach of the Agreement and breach of director’s duties
owed by Mr. Poh towards the Company. The plaintiffs’ claim
against the defendants for the (i) the refund of HK$9,893,000
being the full purchase price of the Weike Machines; (i)
indemnity pursuant from Clause 7.1 of the Agreement; (jii)
interest, cost and further or other relief. Details of this litigation
were disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated
29 October 2008, 28 June 2010, 4 August 2010 and 10
March 2011.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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Z< A F]E2Billion Cosmos Investment
Limited ([ Billion Cosmos |) (1fE& R
EHA)

RZZENE+A-+AE  AARHE
&I} A FBillion Cosmos(1EAE 77 ) B
MAABRAB(EE] - AAEE R
EERIEREEEEH T E(ELEEDE
BH0% E=MAR) (HEREF )L
o AR 0,803,000 L HETIEE
BB (T [ RhbEsi ) -

RZT—TFA+=H  BEEEEA
RARREB LM BB REER 2T
Al B8 m AR REU - IRIEZ G -
EHBERGH - AQR—H2ENB
ARFMIEREMA EEMEZFRAR
FEh (AR DB B AIREBER(BR]) -
EFHBARBRASER()BEERA
R ¥ 8,704,851 L (I B B BHEBIMIAAR
M E 2 ARE) ()N Et 2 BREE
AEREE 5,000,000 7T (iil) KT B A AR B
RS RS I 7 B - iR RS E AR 4
MEL AR (V) ENZBRRZE2HER -
ZE-TFLAZFB  ERAMBR
RIBHURBNE  HRATEZRER -

ANTE——FZAtH FESHERR
RE([RARE D B L ERSK - RAEHE
A% — R4 A KBilion CosmostEAZE — 8
EHAN - BREHEAE —HEARBEEE
ABE_WHEARR(EPEIE) BEREL
EERHAARIZERFEMAHEITRR - R
EANEHEARR()VREBEBEE 2FE
B $©%9,893,000/8 7T : (i) RIEHZEE 7.1
WETTRE : (NS - BRARE—FPHE
fofl(E - REFRAZFBEENAARA
MA—ZEEZN\E+A-+NE —T—F
FRAZTN\R ZE—ZFNANA K
—E——F=ZA+tHZAMH-

il
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39. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(b)

Luck Continent against Mr. Cheng and the

Company

On 26 January 2011, being the returnable date of the
summons issued by Luck Continent on 19 January 2011,
the High Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”) granted an
interim injunction order (“Interim Injunction Order”) against the
Company in respect of the summons. The Interim Injunction
Order provides, among other things, that:

(1)

until further order, Mr. Cheng and the Company,
whether by himself or itself (as the case may be),
its agents, servants or otherwise howsoever, be
restrained from procuring or taking any steps to
procure T-Matrix to:

@

(i)

(i)

dispose, assign, charge or otherwise deal with
the property situate at 16th Floor, Bright China
Chang An Property, No 7 Jian Guo Men Nei Da
Jie, Beijing, PRC;

act pursuant to, or otherwise carry out the
matters contained in, the shareholder’s
resolutions of T-Matrix purportedly dated 15
December 2010, which is in relation to setting up
of a Beijing branch company for T-Matrix; and

take any further steps or enter into or perfect
(including affixing a statutory chop on) the
agreements or draft agreements in relation to
T-Matrix for, inter alia, outsourcing the business
of T-Matrix and use of property; and

until further order, the Company, whether by itself, its
agents, servant or otherwise howsoever, be restrained
from acting pursuant to, or otherwise carrying out the
matters contained in, the directors’ resolution of the
Company dated 8 July 2010 in respect of what was
referred to as” Project T-Matrix”.

39.
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39. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Luck Continent against Mr. Cheng and the
Company (Continued)

The Interim Injunction Order was granted an undertaking as
to damages by Luck Continent. Counsel for Luck Continent
represented to the High Court of Hong Kong that:

(i) Luck Continent’s shareholding in the Company is
currently unencumbered.

(ii) Luck Continent shall give reasonable notice to the
Company of its intention, if any, to encumber its
shareholding in the Company in future.

Further details of which were disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 27 January 2011.

The Company against Mr. Cheng, Ms. Yung and
others

In connection with the payment in the sum of HK$9,306,500
(the “Payment”) made to Ms. Yung, the wife of Mr. Cheng
and a former employee of the Company, purportedly for legal
fees and expenses incurred by Mr. Cheng and Ms. Yung
in relation to (i) the investigation conducted by the ICAC
(“ICAC Investigation”), details to which were disclosed in
the announcements of the Company dated 13 September
2010, 7 October 2010 and 7 March 2011; and (i) petition
under section 168A of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“S1B8A Action”), details of which were disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 21 April 2010,
24 January 2011 and 27 January 2011.
Payment, on 14 April 2011, the Company, as plaintiff,
has issued an originating summons in the Court of First
Instance at the High Court against Mr. Cheng, Ms. Yung,
Mr. Ng Pui Lung (a former Director), Mr. Wang Shanchuan
(a former Director) and Mr. Ho Chi Chung Joseph (“Joseph
Ho”, a former Director and the former acting chief executive
officer of the Group) for, amongst other things, the following
declarations and orders:

In relation to the

(1)  adeclaration that the board resolution of the Company
in relation to the approval of reimbursement of the
Payment to Mr. Cheng and Ms. Yung is void and of no
effect (the “Board Resolution”);

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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39. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

The Company against Mr. Cheng, Ms. Yung and
others (Continued)

(2)  a declaration that Mr. Cheng and/or Ms. Yung hold
any sums paid by the Company to them pursuant to
the Board Resolution, including but not limited to the
sum of HK$9,306,500 on constructive trust for the
Company; and

(8)  an order that Mr. Cheng and/or Ms. Yung do repay (i)
any sums paid or reimbursed by the Company to them,
or on their behalf, pursuant to the Board Resolution,
including but not limited to the Payment; (i) any sums
paid or reimbursed by the Company to or on behalf
of Mr. Cheng and Ms. Yung, and various companies
being respondents under the S168A Action in relation
to the legal fees and expenses incurred by them in the
S168A Action; and (i) any sums paid by the Company
to or on behalf of Mr. Cheng and/or Ms. Yung in
relation to the legal fees and expenses incurred by
them in, amongst other things, the ICAC Investigation.

Further details of this litigation were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 18 April 2011.

The Company and Highsharp Investments
Limited (“Highsharp”), as plaintiffs

On 5 May 2011, the Company and Highsharp, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as Plaintiffs, issued a writ
of summons in the Court of First Instance against, among
others, Mr. Cheng, Ms. Yung, the personal representatives of
Mr. Kok Teng Nam (also known as Kenny Nam), deceased,
Mr. Philip Yu and Agustus Investments Limited (collectively
referred to as the “Defendants”) in relation to (i) the sale
of shares in Sino Joy Holdings Limited, the corporate
vehicle holding the 17th Floor, Silver Base Centre, No. 200
Gloucester Road, Hong Kong (the “17th Floor Property”)
by China Entertainment Holdings Limited to Mansion Gains
Holdings Limited (“Mansion Gains”) in or around June 2007;
and (i) the acquisition by Highsharp of the shares in Mansion
Gains, which indirectly held the 17th Floor Property (the
“Transaction”), the details of the Transaction and the claims
against the defendants were disclosed in the announcements
of the Company dated 9 October 2007 and 11 May 2011,
respectively.
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39. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(e)

()

The Company and Ace Precise International
Limited (“Ace Precise”), as plaintiffs

On 6 May 2011, the Company and Ace Precise, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as Plaintiffs, issued a
writ of summons in the Court of First Instance against Best
Max Holdings Limited (“Best Max”), Mr. Lo Chun Cheong
(also known as Ronald Lo) (sole director and registered
shareholder of Best Max) (“Ronald Lo”), Mr. Cheng, Joseph
Ho and Mr. Yeung Tak Hung Arthur (“Arthur Yeung”, the
former Chief Operating Officer of the Group) in relation to (i)
the Subscription Agreement dated 3 December 2008 made
between Ace Precise and Best Max for the subscription of
the HK$12,000,000 zero coupon convertible bond due on 2
December 2010 issued by Best Max to Ace Precise; (i) the
guarantee and indemnity in respect of the obligations of Best
Max dated 3 December 2008 executed by Ronald Lo as
guarantor in favour of Ace Precise; (i) the deed of release for
the guarantee dated 18 June 2010 purportedly executed by
Mr. Cheng on behalf of Ace Precise; and (iv) the conversion
notice(s) dated 1 April 2011 purportedly executed by Joseph
Ho on behalf of Ace Precise. The details of the claims against
the defendants were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 11 May 2011.

Subsidiaries of the Company against Mr. Cheng

On 11 June 2011, the Company, together with certain of
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely CYC Investments
Limited (“CYC Investments”), Sincere Land Holdings Limited
(“Sincere Land”), Hainan Treasure Way Enterprises Limited
(“Treasure Way”), Hainan Jiaying Internet Technology
Company Limited (“Jiaying”), Suzhou C Y Foundation
Entertainment and Investment Management Limited
(“Suzhou C Y Foundation”), CYC Investment Consultancy
(Wuxi) Limited (“CYC Wuxi”); and Longpin Investment
Consultancy (Shanghai) Company Limited (“Longpin”), as
plaintiffs, issued an originating summons in the Court of First
Instance to claim against Mr. Cheng for, among others, the
following relief:

(1) an order for the delivery up to the Company of the
personnel files relating to Mr. Cheng and other
documents and things of the Company wrongfully
detained or removed by him;

PEEEEERRAT
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39. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

()

(9)

Subsidiaries of the Company against Mr. Cheng
(Continued)

(2)  orders for the delivery up to Treasure Way, Jiaying,
Suzhou C Y Foundation, CYC Wuxi or Longpin (as
appropriate) their respective seals, chops, documents,
records and other things wrongfully detained or
removed by Mr. Cheng;

(8)  an order that Mr. Cheng do sign all documents, do all
things and take all steps necessary for the appointment
of designated person(s) to take up the offices, titles
and/or positions held by Mr. Cheng in Treasure Way,
Jiaying, Suzhou C Y Foundation, CYC Wuxi and
Longpin in the place and stead of Mr. Cheng, and for
obtaining all necessary approvals of the governmental
departments and authorities in China for the change of
the said offices, titles and/or positions; and

(4)  damages for breach of Mr. Cheng’s duties as the agent
of the Company, CYC Investments and/or Sincere
Land.

Further details of this litigation were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 11 June 2011.

The Company against former management and
employees

On 3 June 2011, the Company, as Plaintiff, issued a writ
of summons in the High Court against, among others, Mr.
Cheng, Ms. Yung, Joseph Ho, Arthur Yeung, Ms Kwok Pui
Hung (“Stella Kwok”, a former director of human resources
of the Group), Mr. Tsang Heung Yip (“Wallace Tsang”, a
former financial controller of the Group) and other 6 former
employees (collectively referred to as the “Defendants”)
in respect of various claims relating to the sums totalling
HK$6,077,100, together with the related interests, costs
and further and/or other relief, caused, procured and/or
permitted by Mr. Cheng, Ms. Yung, Joseph Ho, Arthur Yung,
Stella Kwok and/or Wallace Tsang, without any or proper
authority or authorisation of the Plaintiff and in breach of their
respective duties to the Plaintiff, to be paid or Arthur Yeung,
Stella Kwok and Wallance Tsang themselves and other 6
employees in around late March 2011 under the guise or
pretence of special bonuses to the recipients.
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39. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(h)

A subsidiary of the Company against Ms. Yung

Ms. Yung and Kingbox (Asia) Limited (“Kingbox”) (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into supplemental
agreement dated 4 January 2010 (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) which provides that Kingbox would pay to Ms.
Yung upon her termination of employment a remunerative
payment which equaled her annual salary income multiplied
by two years (the total amount should not exceed 28 months’
salary). The amount payable pursuant to the Supplemental
Agreement is approximately HK$2,520,000. Ms. Yung has
tendered her resignation on 8 April 2011 with a six month
notice and subsequently furnished an early termination notice
on 22 May 2011.

On 17 August 2011, Kingbox, as Plaintiff, commenced a
legal proceeding in the High Court against Ms. Yung, as
Defendant, in respect of the Supplemental Agreement. The
relief sought in the High Court Action for (i) a declaration that
the Supplemental Agreement was null and void and/or did
not constitute a valid, binding and/or enforceable contract
between the Plaintiff and the Defendant; (i) further or in the
alternative, an order that the Supplemental Agreement be
annulled and/or set aside; (i) costs and (iv) further and/or
other relief.

Further details of this proceeding were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2011.

The English names are for identification only
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40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. TEHBEAT

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2011 and 31

March 2010 are as follows:

ERINHEERRPEARBARFE EE AL
HABOEEFEZIARREENBLAR - EF
R EMMB AR SEEIIRBIRITE

W—ZE——F=ZA=+—AK=-ZE—ZF=A
—t+—BZEEMBRATFEBNOT ¢

Place of Nominal value Percentage of
incorporation/ of issued equity interest
registration/ ordinary shares/ attributable to
operations registered capital the Company
Name of subsidiary MRS ERTEBERRA AAFEL Principal activity
WEAREH /g g |/ EEx RERA TEEH
Directly held:
BERRR:
Highsharp Investments Ltd. BVI US$1 100% Investment holding
RBRUES e RERR
Indirectly held:
MRS
Beijjing Horizon Trading Company Limited (note) ~ The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% Online game tournament services
FREARBESERAR () i AE#1,000,0007C B BEREER
C Y Foundation Culture Company Limited (notei) ~ The PRC RMB30,300,000 82.2% Online game tournament services
FEEELBRAA(ME) HE AR#30,300,0007C BrERREER
Sino Joy Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% Property holding
R EEAR AR BB 1007%87C S EIES
Kingbox (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 100% Manufacture and sale of
2&(TMBERAT B 5,000,000 7T packaging products

RERHERRER
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

HE-T-—FZA=t-ALEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. T EMBAT(E)

Place of Nominal value Percentage of
incorporation/ of issued equity interest
registration/ ordinary shares/ attributable to
operations registered capital the Company
Name of subsidiary AL ERTEBRRA ADRELL Principal activity
WEARER RV 31 A/ HEmEL REEDL TEER
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BiEE (1)
Horizon Worldwide Ltd Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% Watch trading
Bl 500,000/ 7T EZES
Suzhou C Y Foundation Entertainment and The PRC US$2,500,000 100% Investment holding
Investment Management Limited (note i i 2,500,000 7T RERR
FNREEZREREERERAR L)
T-Matrix Culture Company Limited (note i) The PRC RMB97,000,000 100% Online game tournament services
TRRELARAR (M) T ARH97,000,0007C B EEERER
Shanghai Haocai Investment The PRC RMB6,000,000 100% Online game tournament services
Management Co., Ltd.* (“Shanghai Haocal”) H AR%6,000,0007T BLEERRES
DRFREEEBRARA( LBFY])
Shanghai Jifeng Investment Management The PRC RMB171,206,300 100% Investment holding
Co., Ltd" (note i) R ARH171,206,300 7T REER
DEESREEEBRAA(ME)
Hainan Baoyin Industrial Co., Ltd" (note i) The PRC US$25,000,000 100% Investment holding
BHEREXARAR (N i 25,000,0003C RERR
. The English names are for identification only - BEXEEERSE

Notes:

(i) private limited liability company

(i) wholly-owned foreign enterprise

() FAABREERA

(i DINEBBERE
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41.

42.

43.

BE-T——FA=+—AILFE

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there are certain
updates on the Group’s corporate development, changes of the
Company’s directors, litigations involved, and details of which
are stated in notes 2, 13 and 39 to the consolidated financial
statements and the related public announcements of the Company.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As further explained in note 3 to these financial statements, due
to the adoption of certain new and revised HKFRSs during the
current year, the presentation of certain items, balances and the
related explanatory notes to these financial statements have been
revised to comply with the new requirements. Accordingly, certain
comparative figures have been re-presented to conform with the
current year’s presentation.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board of Directors on 31 August 2011.

4. MEHRREE

42,

43.

RBEMRE  AEBEERRE  ARAESFE
BRS R ZFBRETEEE TER - GRS
DRIRERETHHREMTL2 13 %39 - ARAR
BIMERE DR AR R -

EEmETF

HINZEMBRAMEE— TR - ARFR
Ry T BT RGBT RN BmEER - B

FER 225 - mﬁ&z%M%ﬁﬁzmmm&
IR R ERTAR A BT « Al - BT8R
TR ESINEATE L 2515 o
REM B R
HEHBRRERES RN T ——F A

=t+—BHbE R TR
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A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

AEEBEREYRFRE2XEREERBERRET)
sk B E MR EERYBRRLEY,EHH A (W0E
B LEIMT -

RESULTS E5
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—-HLEFE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—T——& —“T-TF —TTNF —TTN\F —TTLHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B%Tr A¥Tr AT BT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREER
Turnover L 145,075 117,149 57,046 664 77,634
Loss before tax BRELAIE B (293,811) (80,117)  (195,630) (28,542) (24,151)
Income tax Fis®i (10,549) (3,429 (358) (608) -
Loss for the year from REEFELE
continuing operations Byl i (304,360) (83,546)  (195,988) (29,150) (24,151)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION RIPREEK
Loss for the year from a REZHKR LS
discontinued operation ¥ 7ER - - (2,695) (11,733) (16,324)
Loss for the year AEEER (304,360)  (83,546) (198,683)  (40,883)  (40,475)
Attributable to: 1
Owners of the Company ARAREAA (302,972) (78,594)  (195,662) (41,363) (40,475)
Non-controlling interests SRR R i (1,388) (4,952) (3,021) 480 -
(304,360) (83,546)  (198,683) (40,883) (40,475)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
As at 31 March
R=A=+-H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—T——& “T-TF —TTNF —TTN\F —TTLHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT A%t BE¥Tr A¥%Tr BT
Total assets BEETE 315,929 627,036 712,510 873,288 822,513
Total liabilities afEeE (58,740) (77,868)  (107,577)  (108,542)  (775,185)
Net assets BESE 257,189 549,168 604,933 764,746 47,328
Attributable to: 1 -
Owners of the Company /NI ESUN 254,890 547,904 600,978 758,745 47,328
Non-controlling interests JEFERR IR R 2,299 1,264 3,955 6,001 -
257,189 549,168 604,933 764,746 47,328
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Particulars of property interests held by the Group as at 31 March 2011 AEER _—_ZE——F=A=+—BHBE2MEER
are as follows: BT

Attributable
interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group

it B R FH FEEELES

Investment properties

REME

Units 1601-3, 1605-7, 1617-23 and 1625-6, Office Medium 100%
No.7 Jiaguo Mennei Dajie, PWAE H HA

Dongcheng District, Beijing City, the PRC

R EIAE R R B PTAAHT 7 5%

1601-3= + 1605-7 = ~ 1617-23 E 2 1625-6 &

Owner-occupied properties

EREEIES

Units 1608-12 and 1615-6, Office Medium 100%
No.7 Jiaguo Mennei Dajie, WAE Fh

Dongcheng District, Beijing City, the PRC

B R [ S B P A R 7 5%

1608-12 = }2 1615-6 =

Unit 5D, Dragon Industrial Building Office Medium 100%
93, King Lam Street, Cheung Sha Wan WAE Fh

Kowloon, Hong Kong

EENBERDEEMAET 935

BEATEAESDE

Flat H, 32/F., Block 5, Staff quarter Medium 100%
Manhattan Hill, Mei Foo, BIw® A

Kowloon, Hong Kong

BBNEEFEREL

FEREREHE
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